Louisiana State University
LSU Scholarly Repository

LSU Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

July 2021

Algorithms Related to Triangle Groups

Bao The Pham Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations

Part of the Algebra Commons, and the Number Theory Commons

Recommended Citation

Pham, Bao The, "Algorithms Related to Triangle Groups" (2021). *LSU Doctoral Dissertations*. 5615. https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations/5615

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contactgradetd@lsu.edu.

ALGORITHMS RELATED TO TRIANGLE GROUPS

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Department of Mathematics

by Bao T. Pham B.S., Louisiana State University, 2015 M.S., Louisiana State University, 2017 August 2021

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my advisors Ling Long and Fang-Ting Tu for all of their support and encouragement. This dissertation would not be possible without their guidance and insights. I cannot express enough gratitude towards them for everything that they have done to help me reach where I am right now.

I would like to thank Karl Mahlburg and Shahab Mehraeen for serving on my committee and their helpful comments on my dissertation. I would like to thank my colleagues Liem Nguyen and Shashika Petta Mestrige for their insightful discussions throughout the years.

I would also like to thank my family for their understanding and support as I went through my Ph.D. studies. Lastly, I would like to thank Kieu Tran for being there for me through my toughest times. Without her emotional support, I would not be where I am today.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	ii
List of Tables	iv
Abstract	v
Chapter 1. Preliminaries	1
1.1. Hyperbolic Geometry	1
1.2. Triangle Groups	2
1.3. Generators of Triangle Groups	5
1.4. Permutation Representation	7
1.5. Fundamental Domain	8
1.6. Modular Group and Its Finite Index Subgroups	9
1.7. Overview	.6
Chapter 2. Farey Symbols	8
2.1. Introduction \ldots 1	18
2.2. Invariants From Farey Symbols	20
2.3. Algorithm for Constructing Farey Symbol	22
Chapter 3. Bipartite Cuboid Graphs	27
3.1. Interpreting Fundamental Domains of Subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ as Graphs	27
3.2. Interpreting Graphs as Permutations	31
3.3. Isomorphisms Between BCG's	33
3.4. Permutations Back to BCG's	11
3.5. BCG's Back to Generalized Farey Symbols	42
Chapter 4. Extension to General Triangle Groups	18
4.1. Introduction $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	18
4.2. Drawing Fundamental Domains for Finite Index Subgroups of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$.	18
4.3. Group Membership	50
4.4. Classifications of Subgroups of $\overline{\Delta}(2,4,6)$ up to Index 11	5 4
Appendix. Examples for $\overline{\Delta}(2,4,6)$	59
Bibliography	31
Vita	34

List of Tables

4.1	A Table of Conjugacy Classes of Subgroups of $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$, Index 1-7	56
4.2	A Table of Conjugacy Classes of Subgroups of $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$, Index 8-9	57
4.3	A Table of Conjugacy Classes of Subgroups of $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$, Index 10-11	58

Abstract

Given a finite index subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, one can talk about the different properties of this subgroup. These properties have been studied extensively in an attempt to classify these subgroups. Tim Hsu created an algorithm to determine whether a subgroup is a congruence subgroup by using permutations [9]. Lang, Lim, and Tan also created an algorithm to determine if a subgroup is a congruence subgroup by using Farey Symbols [15]. Sebbar classified torsion-free congruence subgroups of genus 0 [25]. Pauli and Cummins computed and tabulated all congruence subgroups of genus less than 24 [3]. However, there are still some problems left to be solved.

In the first part of this thesis, we will use the concept of Farey Symbols and bipartite cuboid graphs to determine when two subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ are in the same conjugacy class in $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. We implemented this algorithm, and other related algorithms, with SageMath [23]. In the second part of the thesis, we will extend these ideas to general triangle groups. Specifically, we will classify some small index conjugacy classes of subgroups of the triangle group $\overline{\Delta}(2, 4, 6)$.

Chapter 1. Preliminaries

1.1. Hyperbolic Geometry

In this section, we will recall some basic facts about hyperbolic geometry following the notations of Katok [11]. Let $\mathcal{H} = \{z = x + iy \in \mathbb{C} | \text{Im}(z) > 0\}$ be the upper half complex plane with the differential form

$$ds = \frac{\sqrt{dx^2 + dy^2}}{y}.$$

The length of a curve C parameterized by x(t) and y(t) for $0 \le t \le 1$ is defined by $\int \sqrt{(dx)^2 + (dy)^2}$

$$h(C) = \int_0^1 \frac{\sqrt{\left(\frac{dx}{dt}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{dy}{dt}\right)^2}}{y(t)} dt.$$

The hyperbolic distance between $z_1, z_2 \in \mathcal{H}$ is given by $\rho(z_1, z_2) = \inf h(C)$ where C is all differentiable curves connecting z_1 and z_2 .

Definition 1. For $z_1, z_2 \in \mathcal{H}$, the shortest curve connecting z_1 and z_2 with respect to this metric is called the **geodesics** between z_1 and z_2 .

It is well known that geodesics on \mathcal{H} are either vertical lines or semicircles with endpoints on $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$. Then it is not hard to see that for any two distinct points $z_1, z_2 \in$ \mathcal{H} , there exists a geodesic connecting z_1 and z_2 and that the geodesic is unique. The hyperbolic area for $A \subset \mathcal{H}$ is defined to be

$$\mu(A) = \int_A \frac{dxdy}{y^2}.$$

A hyperbolic triangle is a region in \mathcal{H} that is bounded by three geodesics.

Theorem 1 (Gauss-Bonnet [11]). Let \triangle be a hyperbolic triangle with angles $\frac{\pi}{a}, \frac{\pi}{b}, \frac{\pi}{c}$ where $a, b, c > 0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then $\mu(\triangle) = \pi - \frac{\pi}{a} - \frac{\pi}{b} - \frac{\pi}{c}$.

Note that as $\mu(\Delta) > 0$, the above theorem implies that $\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{c} < 1$. When $\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{c} = 1$ (resp. $\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{c} > 1$), Δ is euclidean (resp. spherical) and we can classify (a, b, c) into a finite number of cases [17]. When Δ is hyperbolic, there are infinitely many cases. We will provide an algorithm for classifying specific cases when Δ is hyperbolic in the latter half of this thesis.

1.2. Triangle Groups

Let $a, b, c \geq 2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and \triangle to be a hyperbolic triangle with angles $\frac{\pi}{a}, \frac{\pi}{b}, \frac{\pi}{c}$. One can also suppose that $a \leq b \leq c$. Let G be a group generated by reflections across each sides of the triangle \triangle . Note that by reflections, one can tile the upper half plane using the triangle \triangle . A triangle group $\triangle(a, b, c)$ is a subgroup of G containing only the orientation preserving elements. Note that depending on context, we will use $\triangle(a, b, c)$ to either denote the triangle group or the hyperbolic triangle with angles $\frac{\pi}{a}, \frac{\pi}{b}, \frac{\pi}{c}$.

Recall that $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is the group of 2 by 2 matrices with entries in \mathbb{R} and determinant 1. There is an action of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ on \mathcal{H} given by the Möbius transformation,

$$\gamma z := \frac{az+b}{cz+d} \text{ for } z \in \mathcal{H} \text{ and } \gamma = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R}).$$

Note that for $-I = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$, -Iz = Iz = z. Sometimes it will be more convenient to consider $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R}) = \text{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})/\{I, -I\}$. Since orientation preserving isometries on \mathcal{H} are Möbius transformations which are represented by some $\pm M \in \text{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$, $\triangle(a, b, c)$ is then a subgroup of $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$. Following the notations presented in [2], $\triangle(a, b, c)$ have presentation

$$\triangle(a,b,c) = \langle \sigma_a, \sigma_b, \sigma_c | \sigma_a^a = \sigma_b^b = \sigma_c^c = \sigma_a \sigma_b \sigma_c = -1 \rangle.$$
(1.1)

We will define $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c) = \Delta(a, b, c)/\{\pm 1\}$. We also note that we only need 2 generators to describe $\Delta(a, b, c)$ since there is a relation among the 3 generators.

Let $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{R})$ denote the set $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$. $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ also acts on $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{R})$. For a discrete sub-

group Γ of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$, the action of Γ will split $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{R})$ into equivalence classes. We will denote $\mathcal{H} \cup \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{R})$ as $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$. For $z_1, z_2 \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}, z_1$ is equivalent to z_2 if there exists $\gamma \in \Gamma$ such that $\gamma z_1 = z_2$.

Recall that the modular group is defined as

$$\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} : a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } ad - bc = 1 \right\}.$$

Let $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) := \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})/\{\pm I\}$, then $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \triangle(2,3,\infty)$ and $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \overline{\triangle}(2,3,\infty)$. We will discuss more about why we would want to use $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ in a later section.

Example 1.2.1. Using the Gauss-Bonnet theorem, we have that $\mu(\triangle(2,3,\infty)) = \pi - \frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{\pi}{3} - \frac{\pi}{\infty} = \frac{\pi}{6}$, where we take $\frac{\pi}{\infty}$ to be 0. Let be $M = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and $p_M(x)$ be the characteristic polynomial of M. Then $p_M(x) = x^2 - \operatorname{tr}(M)x + 1$. We apply the quadratic formula to find that the discriminant is $\operatorname{tr}(M)^2 - 4$. If $|\operatorname{tr}(M)| < 2$, the eigenvalues of the matrix M are not real. The other cases, $|\operatorname{tr}(M)| = 2$ and $|\operatorname{tr}(M)| > 2$, give us either 1 real eigenvalue or 2 real eigenvalues. Now let us look at the fixed points of M. A point $z \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is fixed by M if

$$\frac{az+b}{cz+d} = z.$$

Then we have

$$cz^2 + (d-a)z - b = 0.$$

The discriminant of this equation is

$$(d-a)^{2} + 4bc = (a+d)^{2} - 4(ad-bc) = \operatorname{tr}(M) - 4\operatorname{det}(M) = \operatorname{tr}(M) - 4.$$

These facts give us a classification for the matrices in $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$.

Definition 2. A non-identity element $\gamma \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})/\{\pm I\}$ is called **elliptic**, parabolic, or hyperbolic, if

$$|\operatorname{tr}(\gamma)| < 2$$
, $|\operatorname{tr}(\gamma)| = 2$, or $|\operatorname{tr}(\gamma)| > 2$,

respectively. Equivalent, $\gamma \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})/\{\pm I\}$ is called elliptic, parabolic, or hyperbolic if γ has one fixed point in \mathcal{H} , γ has one fixed point on $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{R})$, or γ has two distinct fixed points on $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{R})$ respectively.

Definition 3. Let $\tau \in \mathcal{H} \cup \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$. This element τ is called an **elliptic point** if it is fixed by an elliptic element. It is called a **cusp** if it is fixed by a parabolic element.

Definition 4. Given a discrete subgroup Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$, the **modular curve** Y_{Γ} is defined as the quotient space

$$Y_{\Gamma} := \Gamma \backslash \mathcal{H}.$$

This curve can be viewed as a noncompact Riemann surface. In order to compactify Y_{Γ} , we have to add back in the cusps of Γ . This gives us a compact Riemann surface for the curve $X_{\Gamma} := \Gamma \setminus \overline{\mathcal{H}}$. A more in-depth discussion can be found in chapters 2 and 3 of [6].

Definition 5. The genus of a discrete subgroup Γ of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is defined as the genus of X_{Γ} as a compact Riemann surface.

For a given triangulation of X, the Euler number is defined as

$$V - E + F,$$

where V is number of vertices, E is the number of edges, and F is the number of faces. The Euler characteristic can be similarly defined for connected plane graphs. The genus g_X of X is defined to be

$$2 - 2g_X = V - E + F.$$

We note that the genus of $\triangle(a, b, c)$ is 0.

To compute the genera of finite index subgroups of a given triangle group, one can use a powerful tool called the Riemann-Hurwitz formula. The following are from chapters 2 and 3 of [6]. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a nonconstant holomorphic map between compact orientable Riemann surfaces and d be the degree of f. For $x \in X$, let e_x be the ramification degree of f at x. Let g_X and g_Y be the genera of X and Y. Then the Riemann-Hurwitz formula state

$$2g_X - 2 = d(2g_Y - 2) + \sum_{x \in X} (e_x - 1).$$
(1.2)

In fact, the derivation of the Riemann-Hurwitz formula does involve the Euler characteristic of the surfaces X and Y. A short discussion can be found in chapter 3 of [6].

1.3. Generators of Triangle Groups

Given $\triangle(a, b, c)$ with the presentation given in equation (1.1), there exists an embedding

$$\triangle(a,b,c) \hookrightarrow \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$$

that is unique up to conjugation in $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$. The embedding is given by Petersson [22] (see Clark and Voight [2] or Petersson [22]). For $s \ge 2 \in \mathbb{Z}$, let $\zeta_s = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{s}}$. Then

$$\lambda_s = \zeta_s + \frac{1}{\zeta_s} = 2\cos(\frac{2\pi}{s})$$
 and $\mu_s = 2\sin(\frac{2\pi}{s}) = -i\left(\zeta_s - \frac{1}{\zeta_s}\right)$

where $\zeta_{\infty} = 1, \lambda_{\infty} = 2$, and $\mu_{\infty} = 0$. Finally, for $\triangle(a, b, c) \hookrightarrow SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\triangle(a, b, c)$ having the presentation given in 1.1,

$$\sigma_a \mapsto g_a := \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2a} & \mu_{2a} \\ -\mu_{2a} & \lambda_{2a} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.3)

$$\sigma_b \mapsto g_b := \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2b} & t\mu_{2b} \\ -\mu_{2b}/t & \lambda_{2b} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.4)

where

$$t + 1/t = 2\frac{\lambda_{2a}\lambda_{2b} + 2\lambda_{2c}}{\mu_{2a}\mu_{2b}}.$$
 (1.5)

Let $c = \frac{\lambda_{2a}\lambda_{2b}+2\lambda_{2c}}{\mu_{2a}\mu_{2b}}$. Then $t = c \pm \sqrt{c^2 - 1}$. Notice that there are two choices for t. The choice of t correspond to conjugacy in the embedding. Let $t_+ = c + \sqrt{c^2 - 1}$ and $t_- = c - \sqrt{c^2 - 1}$ and $S = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. Some computation will shows that $t_+t_- = 1$. Then $S^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2b} & t_+\mu_{2b} \end{bmatrix} S = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2b} & \mu_{2b}/t_+ \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2b} & t_-\mu_{2b} \end{bmatrix}$

$$S^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2b} & t_+ \mu_{2b} \\ -\mu_{2b}/t_+ & \lambda_{2b} \end{bmatrix} S = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2b} & \mu_{2b}/t_+ \\ -t_+ \mu_{2b} & \lambda_{2b} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2b} & t_- \mu_{2b} \\ -\mu_{2b}/t_- & \lambda_{2b} \end{bmatrix}$$

So up to conjugation, we'll choose t_+ for the map. We can also apply S to the mapping of σ_a to get

$$S^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2a} & \mu_{2a} \\ -\mu_{2a} & \lambda_{2a} \end{bmatrix} S = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2a} & -\mu_{2a} \\ \mu_{2a} & \lambda_{2a} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{2a} & \mu_{2a} \\ -\mu_{2a} & \lambda_{2a} \end{bmatrix}^{-1}.$$

This mapping gives us a set of generators g_a, g_b that generate a subgroup of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ isomorphic to $\triangle(a, b, c) = \langle \sigma_a, \sigma_b, \sigma_c | \sigma_a^a = \sigma_b^b = (\sigma_a \sigma_b)^c = -1 \rangle$. Therefore, g_a and g_b also have the property that $g_a^a = g_b^b = (g_b g_a)^c = -I$.

Example 1.3.1. Recall that $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \triangle(2,3,\infty)$. Using the embedding above gives us the matrices

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } \begin{bmatrix} 1/2 & 3/2 \\ -1/2 & 1/2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The conjugation in $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is $M = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. $M \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} M^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $M \begin{bmatrix} 1/2 & 3/2 \\ -1/2 & 1/2 \end{bmatrix} M^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$.

1.4. Permutation Representation

Let $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ be a group with generators g_a and g_b satisfying the relations $g_a^a = g_b^b = (g_a g_b)^c = \pm 1$. Let Γ be a discrete index n subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ and let $\{\gamma_i\}$, with $\gamma_1 = I$, be a set of left coset representatives in $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$. Then $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c) = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \gamma_i \Gamma$. For $g \in \overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$, g acts on the left cosets of Γ by multiplication on the left. This action is the same as group homomorphisms from Γ to a subgroup of the symmetric group S_n . So there exists a homomorphism

$$\theta:\overline{\bigtriangleup}(a,b,c)\to S_n$$

where if $\theta(g) = \sigma_g$, then $g\gamma_i\Gamma = \gamma_{\theta_g(i)}\Gamma$. Then by defining $\theta(g_a) = \sigma_a$ and $\theta(g_b) = \sigma_b$, we can represent any finite index *n* subgroups as a pair of permutations σ_a and σ_b satisfying $\sigma_a^a = \sigma_b^b = (\sigma_a \sigma_b)^c = 1$. The transitivity of the group generated by σ_a and σ_b comes from g_a and g_b generating $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$.

Conversely, suppose that σ_a and σ_b , with relations $\sigma_a^a = \sigma_b^b = (\sigma_a \sigma_b)^c = 1$, generate a transitive subgroup of S_n with a homomorphism θ as defined above. Let

$$\Gamma = \{g \in \overline{\bigtriangleup}(a, b, c) \mid \theta(g)(1) = 1\}.$$

Note that $g \in \overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ is in Γ if and only if $g\Gamma = \Gamma$, i.e. $\sigma_g(1) = 1$. Therefore, if $\theta(g)(1) \neq 1$, then $g \notin \Gamma$ and $g\Gamma$ is a coset. Then by transitivity of σ_a and σ_b , Γ is an index

n subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$. A more general discussion can be found in Hall's *The Theory of Groups* in chapter 5 [18].

1.5. Fundamental Domain

Definition 6. For a discrete subgroup Γ of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$, a **fundamental domain** for Γ is a connected hyperbolic polygon F with boundary ∂F on $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ such that

- $\forall z \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}$, there exists $\gamma \in \Gamma$ such that $\gamma z \in F$;
- If $z, z' \in F$ and $z' = \gamma z$ for some nonscalar $\gamma \in \Gamma$, then z and z' belong to ∂F .

Proposition 1. Let Γ be a discrete subgroup of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$, F a fundamental domain of Γ , and $\Gamma' \subset \Gamma$ be a finite index subgroup. Let $\{\gamma_i\}$ be the set of left cosets for Γ' such that $\bigcup_i \gamma_i^{-1} F$ is connected and write Γ as a disjoint union of cosets

$$\Gamma = \bigcup_i \gamma_i \Gamma'.$$

Then

$$F' = \bigcup_i \gamma_i^{-1} F$$

is a fundamental domain for Γ' .

Proof. Let $z \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}$. Then $z' = \gamma z$ where $z' \in F$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$. We also have that $\gamma = \gamma_i \gamma'$ where $\gamma' \in \Gamma$. Then $\gamma' z \in \gamma_i^{-1} F$.

Now suppose that to the contrary, for $z_1, z_2 \in F'$ and $z_2 = \gamma z_1$ for some nonscalar $\gamma \in \Gamma'$, but z_1 and z_2 is not in $\partial F'$. Then $z_1 = \gamma_i^{-1} y_1$ and $z_2 = \gamma_j^{-1} y_2$ for $y_i \in F$. Then $y_2 = \gamma_j \gamma \gamma_i^{-1} y_1$ is an equivalence relation in Γ which contradicts the fact that F is a fundamental domain.

Note that we can choose $\{\gamma_i\}$ so that F' is connected by propagating F using the generators of Γ .

For a triangle group $\triangle(a, b, c)$ with a fundamental domain F, the elliptic points of $\triangle(a, b, c)$ lie on the boundary of F. By labeling each fixed point of order a (resp. order b) with a white (resp. black) dot, we can obtain a bipartite graph from the fundamental domain. We can also find a bipartite graph corresponding to subgroups of $\triangle(a, b, c)$ by propagating the fundamental domain of $\triangle(a, b, c)$. A more in-depth discussion of the bipartite graphs arising from fundamental domains will appear in Chapter 3.

1.6. Modular Group and Its Finite Index Subgroups

There are many different classes of triangle groups that have been studied over the years. One important class of triangle groups is arithmetic triangle groups. These are groups which parameterize certain abelian surfaces admitting quarternionic multiplication [26]. The classification for these arithmetic triangle groups has been done by Takeuchi [28]. A related discussion in terms of generalized Legendre curves is given in this paper [4]. Another class of triangle groups is of the form $\triangle(2, b, \infty)$ where $b \ge 2 \in \mathbb{Z}$. These groups are called Hecke groups. Hecke groups are special because it contains cusps, which does not exists if $a, b, c < \infty$. Recall that cusps are fixed by parabolic elements, and any parabolic element is conjugate by some matrix $A \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ to $\pm \begin{vmatrix} 1 & b \\ 0 & 1 \end{vmatrix}$ for some $b \in \mathbb{R}$ [11][Section 1.4]. Therefore, cusps are fixed points of elements with infinite order, which does not exists in the case of $a, b, c < \infty$ where all the generators have finite order. In [14], C.L. Lang and M.L. Lang studied Hecke groups and produced an algorithm to find the Hecke Farey Symbol, an extension of the classical Farey Symbol. We will discuss Farey Symbol in a later section. Within the class of Hecke groups, one specific group is the group $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \triangle(2,3,\infty)$ which is called the modular group. This group parameterizes the isomorphism classes of elliptic curves [6][Theorem 2.5.1] and it will be the discussion point for the majority of this thesis.

First, we recall some basic facts regarding $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. The proof of these statements can be found in [6].

Theorem 2. Let $S = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and $T = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. The group $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ is generated by the matrices S and T.

Proposition 2. The cusps of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ are $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$, all of which are equivalent in $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. **Proposition 3.** Every elliptic element of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ has order 2 or 3. Moreover, the is one inequivalent class of order 2 and one inequivalent class of order 3.

Definition 7. Let Γ be a finite index subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and z be a cusp of Γ . Then there exists an element $M \in PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ such that MTM^{-1} fixes z. The smallest positive integer n such that $MT^nM^{-1} \in \Gamma$ is called the **width** of the cusp z.

For a positive integer N, here are some classical subgroups of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$:

$$\Gamma(N) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \middle| \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \mod N \right\}$$

$$\Gamma_1(N) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \middle| \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \mod N \right\}$$

$$\Gamma_0(N) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \middle| \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} * & * \\ 0 & * \end{bmatrix} \mod N \right\}$$

Definition 8. A subgroup of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ is called a **congruence subgroup** if it contains $\Gamma(N)$ for some N. The smallest N such that the containment holds is called the **level** of the subgroup.

The groups $\Gamma(N)$, $\Gamma_1(N)$, and $\Gamma_0(N)$ are all congruence subgroups. Dennin [5] showed that for a given genus, the number of congruence subgroups is finite. On the other hand, Jones [10] showed that there are infinitely many noncongruence subgroups for a given genus.

A standard fundamental domain for $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ is

$$F = \left\{ z \in \mathcal{H} : \frac{-1}{2} \le \Re(z) \le \frac{1}{2} \text{ and } |z| \ge 1 \right\}$$

A visual representation of F is given in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1: A standard fundamental domain for $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ with $\rho = \frac{1+\sqrt{-3}}{2}$

From the given fundamental domain, ρ is an elliptic point of order 3 fixed by $ST^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and is equivalent to ρ^2 by $S\rho = \rho^2$. The point *i* is an elliptic point of order 2 fixed by *S*. The cusp is ∞ fixed by $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. This fundamental domain also contains 2 copies of the hyperbolic triangle for $\Delta(2, 3, \infty)$ (one copy is the shaded part in Figure 1.1) with internal angles $\pi/2, \pi/3$, and 0. Note that we need 2 copies to satisfy the orientation preserving condition. Recall from before that $\Delta(2, 3, \infty)$ have area $\frac{\pi}{6}$, so the area of this fundamental domain is $\frac{\pi}{3}$. As a corollary of Proposition 3, we see that the elliptic points of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ are equivalent to either *i* or ρ .

Using the fundamental domain F for $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, we can cover the upper half complex plane using F and the generators of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ as given in Figure 1.2.

Example 1.6.1. Figure 1.3 is a fundamental domain for $\Gamma_0(4)$. The transformations on



Figure 1.2: A partial tessellation of $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$

the boundary of the domain produce the following set of matrices

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 4 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -4 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ -4 & 3 \end{bmatrix},$$

pairing a to b, c to h, d to g, and e to f respectively in an orientation reversing manner.

Note that up to signs, we have that

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -4 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = -\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ -4 & 3 \end{bmatrix}^{-1}, \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 4 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = -\begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ -4 & 3 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

Figure 1.3: A fundamental domain of $\Gamma_0(4)$ using cosets

h

√g

We can obtain another representation for a fundamental domain of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ as follows by applying S to the left side of Figure 1.1 downward to get Figure 1.4. The new polygon is a special polygon (see Definition 9).



Figure 1.4: A special polygon for $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ with $o = \frac{1+\sqrt{-3}}{2}$

In Figure 1.4, we note that *i* and *o* are still elliptic points of order 2 and 3 respectively. However, there are now two vertices that correspond to the cusps, ∞ and 0. In this case, those two cusps are equivalent by the matrix *S*. The angle between the two red lines meeting at *o* is $\frac{2\pi}{3}$.

By propagating the special polygon in Figure 1.4 using some Möbius transformations from $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, we attain Figure 1.5 as a partial tessellation of $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$.



Figure 1.5: A partial tessellation of $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ using the special polygon in Figure 1.4

In this thesis, the fundamental domains for triangle groups are hyperbolic triangles. Consequently, the tessellation obtained from a fundamental domain is made up of hyperbolic geodesics. More than that, the geodesics that connect the cusps are semicircles, or vertical lines, and their endpoints are on $\mathbb{Q} \cup \{\infty\}$. Any two cusps $\frac{a}{b}$ and $\frac{c}{d}$ in the lowest form that are joined by a blue line satisfy the condition that |ad - bc| = 1. Note the points in the middle of the blue line (marked by \circ) are images of *i* and the points formed by the intersections of the red arcs (marked by \bullet) which are images of ρ .

Example 1.6.2. Figure 1.6 is another fundamental domain for $\Gamma_0(4)$. The side pairings labeled by 1's and 2's give rise to the matrices

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} 3 & -1 \\ 4 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$$

respectively, which generate $\Gamma_0(4)$ in $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.



Figure 1.6: $\Gamma_0(4)$ with images of elliptic points labeled

Compared to Example 1.6.1, the set of generators given the side pairings of a special polygon is minimal. This is the motivation for using special polygons as our fundamental domains. For a more general discussion, refer to Maskit's [19] paper on Poincaré's polygons.

We denote the hyperbolic geodesic from 0 to i (resp. from 0 to $\rho = \frac{1+\sqrt{-3}}{2}$) by A_e (resp. A_o). For any $\gamma \in \text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, γA_e (resp. γA_0) is called an **even (resp. odd) edge**. In Figure 1.6, the blue line consists of 2 even edges connected at i and it is called an **even line**. The red line contains 3 odd edges connected at ρ . Two even lines are considered paired if they share the same integer labeling as in Figure 1.6. The paired lines (the lines

with the same labeling) are called **free sides**. The fundamental domain given above for

 $\Gamma_0(4)$ is a special polygon.

Definition 9. A special polygon P is a convex hyperbolic polygon with boundary ∂P

which is a union of even and odd edges satisfying the following:

- P_1) The even edges in ∂P come in connected pairs and form a semi-circle or vertical lines.
- P_2) The odd edges in ∂P come in connected pairs. An odd edge *a* is paired to an odd edge *b* which makes an internal angle of $\frac{2\pi}{3}$ with *a*.
- P_3) Let e, f be two even edges in ∂P forming an even line. Then either e is paired to f, or e and f form a *free side* of P and is paired to another free side of P.
- P_4) 0 and ∞ are two vertices of P.

Definition 10. Let P be a special polygon. The **inner tessellation** of P consists of even and odd edges contained inside P but not including the boundary.

The vertices of a special polygon can either be a cusp on $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ or an elliptic point located in \mathcal{H} located on the boundary of the special polygon. The odd and even pairings come from the fact that the elliptic points can be order 2 or 3.

Note that in the picture for $\Gamma_0(4)$ (i.e. Figure 1.6), $\frac{1}{2}$ can be computed as the mediant between 0 and 1.

Definition 11. For $\frac{a}{b}, \frac{c}{d} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ in simplest form, where we denote ∞ (resp. $-\infty$) as $\frac{1}{0}$ (resp. $\frac{-1}{0}$), the **mediant** of $\frac{a}{b}$ and $\frac{c}{d}$ is denoted by mediant $\left(\frac{a}{b}, \frac{c}{d}\right)$ and computed by $\frac{a+c}{b+d}$.

For a geodesic with endpoints $\frac{a}{b}, \frac{c}{d} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ in lowest form and |ad - bc| = 1, using the endpoints and the mediant as vertices, we obtain a hyperbolic triangle. By Gauss-Bonnet, the area of this hyperbolic triangle is π .

Theorem 3 (Kulkarni [12] Theorem 3.2). A special polygon is a fundamental domain for the subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ generated by the side-pairing transformations and these transformations form an independent set of generators for the subgroup. Conversely every subgroup of finite index in $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ admits a special polygon as a fundamental domain.

Note that special polygons for a given finite index group Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ are not unique.

Example 1.6.3. Figure 1.7 is another special polygon corresponding to $\Gamma_0(4)$. Note that while the special polygons for Figure 1.6 and Figure 1.7 share the same number of hyperbolic triangles, their vertices are different.



Figure 1.7: Another special polygon for $\Gamma_0(4)$ with different vertices

1.7. Overview

There are two major ideas that will be used throughout this thesis. One is that a fundamental domain for a finite index subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ can be obtained by propagating a fundamental domain of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. The other is that the set of generators obtained from a special polygon is minimal. Using these two ideas, we will discuss and develop computational methods for working with finite index subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. We will look at these methods from three different angles. One will be from the perspective of Farey Symbols. Another will be using permutation representations. The last will be using bipartite cuboid graphs.

For the second part, we will try to generalize these ideas to general triangle groups $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$. The extension of permutation representations and graphs can be extended in an obvious manner. However, we may not have Farey Symbols, which rely heavily on cusps. Using these theories, we will develop algorithms involving triangle groups and finite index subgroups of triangle groups. The algorithms include finding a set of generators and determining whether a given matrix is contained in a given finite index subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$. We will also classify nonequivalent isomorphism classes of subgroups of $\overline{\Delta}(2, 4, 6)$ for index up to 11.

Chapter 2. Farey Symbols

For a special polygon, one can describe the polygon using its vertices. This description is called a **Farey Symbol**. The following discussion is based on the work of Kulkarni [12].

2.1. Introduction

We recall the following classical definition of a Farey Sequence.

Definition 12. A **Farey Sequence** is a sequence of completely reduced rational numbers between 0 and 1 in ascending order where each adjacent pair of numbers have cross-ratio

1. The **cross-ratio** of $\frac{x_1}{y_1}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ is denoted as $|x_1y_2 - x_2y_1|$.

Lemma 1. Let $\frac{x_1}{y_1}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ be in simplest form with cross-ratio 1 and z be the mediant $\left(\frac{x_1}{y_1}, \frac{x_2}{y_2}\right)$. Then the cross-ratio of $\left(\frac{x_1}{y_1}, z\right)$ and the cross-ratio of $\left(z, \frac{x_2}{y_2}\right)$ are also 1. *Proof.* Suppose $a, b \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ with $a = \frac{x_1}{y_1}$ and $b = \frac{x_2}{y_2}$ and $|x_1y_2 - x_2y_1| = 1$. Let $c = \frac{x_1 + x_2}{y_1 + y_2}$. Then the cross-ratio of a and c is $|x_1(y_1 + y_2) - y_1(x_1 + x_2)| = |x_1y_2 - x_2y_1| = 1$. Similarly, the cross-ratio of b and c is also 1.

Lemma 2. Let $M = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \text{ and } \frac{x_1}{y_1}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q}) \text{ be in simplest form. Then}$ mediant $\left(M\left(\frac{x_1}{y_1}\right), M\left(\frac{x_2}{y_2}\right)\right) = M\left(\operatorname{mediant}\left(\frac{x_1}{y_1}, \frac{x_2}{y_2}\right)\right).$

Proof.

$$mediant \left(M\left(\frac{x_1}{y_1}\right), M\left(\frac{x_2}{y_2}\right) \right) = \frac{ax_1 + by_1 + ax_2 + by_2}{cx_1 + dy_1 + cx_2 + dy_2} \\ = \frac{a(x_1 + x_2) + b(y_1 + y_2)}{c(x_1 + x_2) + d(y_1 + y_2)} \\ = M\left(\frac{x_1 + x_2}{y_1 + y_2}\right) \\ = M\left(mediant\left(\frac{x_1}{y_1}, \frac{x_2}{y_2}\right) \right)$$

Definition 13. A generalized Farey Sequence is an expression of the form of

$$\{-\infty = \frac{"-1"}{0}, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n, \frac{"1"}{0} = \infty\}$$

where

- i) x_1 and x_n are integers and for exactly one x_i , $x_i = 0$.
- ii) $x_i = \frac{a_i}{b_i}$ are rational numbers in their reduced form and in an increasing order, such that

$$|a_{i+1}b_i - a_ib_{i+1}| = 1, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n-1.$$

Definition 14. A Farey Symbol is a generalized Farey Sequence with pairing informa-

tion between any two adjacent entries. The pairing is labeled as follow:

- If x_i and x_{i+1} are endpoints of two paired even edges, then the pairing is labeled \circ .
- If x_i and x_{i+1} are endpoints of two paired odd edges, then the pairing is labeled •.
- If x_i and x_{i+1} are endpoints of a free side and paired with x'_i and x'_{i+1} , then the pairing is labeled by an integer. Different pairings are labeled by different integers.

Example 2.1.1. A Farey Symbol for $\Gamma_0(4)$ corresponding to Figure 1.6 is

$$-\underbrace{\infty}_{2 \quad 1 \quad 1 \quad 2}^{0} \underbrace{1}_{2 \quad 1}_{1 \quad 1 \quad 2}^{1} \underbrace{1}_{2} \\ \underbrace{1}_{2 \quad 1 \quad 1 \quad 2}^{1}$$

We can compute the matrices for the pairings explicitly by finding the Möbius transformations for the edges. For 1, we need to find a, b, c, d such that $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2}$, $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} 0 = 1$, and $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. For 2, we need a matrix $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ that fixes ∞ and sends 0 to 1. We find that 1 corresponds to the matrix $\begin{bmatrix} 3 & -1 \\ 4 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ and 2 corresponds to the matrix $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$.

Example 2.1.2. Consider the following Farey Symbol



This Farey Symbol shares the same entries as Example 2.1.1. However, by changing the pairings, this Farey Symbol now represents a different subgroup. The subgroup corresponding to this Farey Symbol is now of index 8. Similar to Example 2.1.1, we can compute the matrices for the pairings explicitly. The matrix corresponding to 1 is $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. For the odd pairing between 0 and $\frac{1}{2}$, we first note that the odd edges forming this pairing lie inside a hyperbolic triangle with vertices 0, $\frac{1}{3}$, and $\frac{1}{2}$. Therefore, we need to find $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ that permutes these vertices. The matrix is $\pm \begin{bmatrix} 2 & -1 \\ 7 & -3 \end{bmatrix}$. For the second odd pairing, we need a matrix that permutes $\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}$, and $\frac{1}{1}$. The matrix is $\pm \begin{bmatrix} 4 & -3 \\ 7 & -5 \end{bmatrix}$. An explicit algorithm is given in Theorem 4.



Figure 2.1: A partial special polygon with vertices 0, 1, and ∞

2.2. Invariants From Farey Symbols

Given a finite index subgroup Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, one can use the Farey Symbol to represent the subgroup in a concise way. From the Farey Symbol, we can obtain invariants for

the given subgroup. The number of even (resp. odd) pairing is the number of inequivalent elliptic points of order 2 (resp. order 3).

Let F be a Farey Symbol and $\{-\infty, x_1, \ldots, x_n, \infty\}$ be the corresponding generalized Farey Sequence with $x_i = \frac{a_i}{b_i}$. The generalized Farey Sequence will also have a cyclic order. This means that $x_{n+1} = \infty = -\infty = x_0$. The width of each vertex x_i can be calculated from the Farey Symbol as follows:

width
$$(x_i) = |a_{i-1}b_{i+1} - a_{i+1}b_{i-1}| + c$$

where c is $0, \frac{1}{2}$, or 1 if x_i is adjacent to 0, 1, or 2 odd edges respectively. The width of the vertex ∞ is

width(
$$\infty$$
) = $|a_n b_1 - a_1 b_n| + c$.

The vertices can be partitioned into equivalent classes $\{x_i\}$, which are cusps. If x_i and x_{i+1} are paired by an even or odd pairing, then x_i and x_{i+1} are equivalent cusps. If x_i and x_{i+1} are paired with x'_i and x'_{i+1} by a free pairing, then x_i and x'_{i+1} are equivalent and x_{i+1} and x'_i are equivalent.

Then the width of a cusp $\{x_i\}$ is the sum of the width of $x_j \in \{x_i\}$. Let n be the index of a finite index subgroup with a set of inequivalent cusps $\{x_i\}$. Then

$$n = \sum_{i} \operatorname{width}(x_i).$$

We can also obtain the genus of Γ by applying the Riemann-Hurwitz formula given in equation (1.2) [12]. Let Γ be an index *n* subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and e_2, e_3, c be the numbers of inequivalent order 2 elliptic points, order 3 elliptic points, and cusps respectively. Then the genus g of Γ is given by

$$g = 1 + \frac{n}{12} - \frac{e_2}{4} - \frac{e_3}{3} - \frac{c}{2}$$

The generators of Γ are given by the pairing information of the Farey Symbol.

Theorem 4 (Kulkarni [12] Theorem 6.1). Suppose $\frac{a_i}{b_i}$ and $\frac{a_{i+1}}{b_{i+1}}$ are two adjacent entries of a Farey Symbol F. Then if the pairing between them, p_{i+1} , is an even pairing, let:

$$G_{i+1} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{i+1}b_{i+1} + a_ib_i & -a_i^2 - a_{i+1}^2 \\ b_i^2 + b_{i+1}^2 & -a_{i+1}b_{i+1} - a_ib_i \end{bmatrix}.$$

If p_{i+1} is an odd pairing, let:

$$G_{i+1} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{i+1}b_{i+1} + a_ib_{i+1} + a_ib_i & -a_i^2 - a_ia_{i+1} - a_{i+1}^2 \\ b_i^2 + b_ib_{i+1} + b_{i+1}^2 & -a_{i+1}b_{i+1} - a_{i+1}b_i - a_ib_i \end{bmatrix}$$

If p_{i+1} is a free pairing that is paired with the side between $\frac{a_k}{b_k}$ and $\frac{a_{k+1}}{b_{k+1}}$, let:

$$G_{i+1} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{k+1}b_{i+1} + a_kb_i & -a_ka_i - a_{k+1}a_{i+1} \\ b_kb_i + b_{k+1}b_{i+1} & -a_{i+1}b_{k+1} - a_ib_k \end{bmatrix}$$

Then G_{i+1} is the side transformation corresponding to the pairing between p_{i+1} .

Example 2.2.1. The Farey Symbol for $\Gamma_0(4)$ is

$$-\underbrace{\underbrace{\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{1} & \infty \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 2 \end{array}}_{2}$$

The generators are $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} 3 & -1 \\ 4 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$. There are no elliptic points. The cusps 0 and 1 are equivalent. So there are 3 inequivalent cusps: $0, \frac{1}{2}$, and ∞ . The cusp 0 has width 4, $\frac{1}{2}$ has width 1, and ∞ has width 1. The index is 6. The genus is 0.

2.3. Algorithm for Constructing Farey Symbol

The following algorithm was given by Kurth [13] based on the work of Kulkarni. Currently in SageMath, there exists the KFarey package [24] for producing a Farey Symbol along with the invariants for a given finite index subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. We expand upon that algorithm to produce a bipartite cuboid graph with labelings. We will discuss more about bipartite cuboid graphs in the next chapter.

There are two facts to be noted prior to discussing the algorithm. The first fact is Lemma 2. Let $M = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and $0, 1, \infty$ be the vertices of a hyperbolic triangle. Then the image of the hyperbolic triangle under the action of M will have vertices $\frac{a}{c}, \frac{a+b}{c+d}, \frac{b}{d}$. Therefore, to find the image of the hyperbolic triangle with vertices $0, 1, \infty$ under M, we only need to find the image of 0 and ∞ . The last vertex comes from the mediant of the image of 0 and ∞ . The second fact is the following. Let $\frac{b}{d} < \frac{a}{c} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ in simplest form with |ad - bc| = 1. Then $M = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}$ takes 0 to $\frac{b}{d}$ and ∞ to $\frac{a}{c}$.

Using these two facts, we can propagate our special polygon (Figure 2.1) along any of its sides by finding the mediant between the corresponding two vertices.



Figure 2.2: Figure 2.1 reflected down



Figure 2.3: Figure 2.1 reflected right

Example 2.3.1. Recall Figure 2.1. If we want to reflect the triangle downward, we only need to find the mediant of 0 and 1. The mediant(0, 1) is $\frac{1}{2}$. The vertices 0, 1, and $\frac{1}{2}$ produce the polygon in Figure 2.2. If we want to reflect the triangle to the right, we find the mediant between 1 and ∞ . The mediant $(1, \infty)$ is 2 and the polygon is the one in Figure 2.3.

Algorithm 1 Produce a Farey Symbol given a finite index subgroup Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and a

fundamental domain 1: Check if $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ is in Γ 2: if Yes then Return $-\infty \quad 0 \quad \infty$ Return Figure 1.4 Terminate 6: else if $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ are in Γ then $\Gamma = \Gamma_2$, where Γ_2 is the unique subgroup of index 2 Return $-\infty$ $\stackrel{\underline{\upsilon}}{\underbrace{1}}$ ∞

Terminate 9:

10: end if

3:

4:

5:

7:

8:

11: Make a partial Farey Symbol:

$$-\infty \quad \underbrace{\stackrel{0}{1} \quad \stackrel{1}{1} \quad \infty}_{}.$$

12: Let F be the hyperbolic triangle with vertices $\{0, 1, \infty\}$ with labeling given in Figure

2.1

13: n = 3

14: while There are unpaired entries do

Check whether you can pair the entries. If yes, assign the appropriate pairing 15:

if Pairing between $\frac{p_i}{q_i}$ and $\frac{p_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}}$ is odd then 16:

Reflect one portion of F over the geodesic with endpoints $\{\frac{p_i}{q_i}, \frac{p_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}}\}$. Specifi-

cally, let

17:

$$G_{i+1} = \begin{bmatrix} p_{i+1}q_{i+1} + p_iq_{i+1} + p_iq_i & -p_i^2 - p_ip_{i+1} - p_{i+1}^2 \\ q_i^2 + q_iq_{i+1} + q_{i+1}^2 & -p_{i+1}q_{i+1} - p_{i+1}q_i - p_iq_i \end{bmatrix}$$

and let pt be the fixed point of G_{i+1} . The new hyperbolic triangle will have vertices

 $\left\{\frac{p_i}{q_i}, pt, \frac{p_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}}\right\}$

18: Label the new region n+1

```
19: Let n = n + 1
```

20: end if

21: if all entries have been paired then

```
22: terminate
```

23: else if There are any unpaired entries, say $\frac{p_i}{q_i}$ and $\frac{p_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}}$ then

24: We add a new entry,
$$\frac{p_i + p_{i+1}}{q_i + q_{i+1}}$$

25: Reflect F along the geodesic with endpoints $\frac{p_i}{q_i}$ and $\frac{p_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}}$ forming a new hyperbolic triangle with vertices $\{\frac{p_i}{q_i}, \frac{p_i + p_{i+1}}{q_i + q_{i+1}}, \frac{p_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}}\}$

26: Label the region with n + 1, n + 2, n + 3 in a counterclockwise manner

27: n = n + 3

28: end if

29: end while

Example 2.3.2. We apply the algorithm to $\Gamma_0(15)$ and it will produce Figure 2.4. We can also call upon functions from the KFarey package to find the invariants. The dash lines indicate the points that will be paired in the corresponding bipartite graph. We will discuss bipartite cuboid graphs in the next chapter.



Figure 2.4: The Farey Symbol and special polygon for $\Gamma_0(15)$ using Algorithm 1

Chapter 3. Bipartite Cuboid Graphs

3.1. Interpreting Fundamental Domains of Subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ as Graphs

Definition 15. A **bipartite cuboid graph** (BCG) is a finite connected bipartite graph, which can be embedded on an orientable surface, such that

- every white (resp. black) vertex is of degree 1 or 2 (resp. 1 or 3),
- there is a cyclic order on the edges incident at each vertex.

We will choose counterclockwise as our direction for the cyclic order on the edges for the rest of this paper.

By using Algorithm 1, one can produce a fundamental domain for a finite index subgroup Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. Given a fundamental domain F with the inner tessellation (definition 10), let the images of the elliptic points of order 3 (resp. order 2) of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ under the actions arising from the left cosets be represented as the black (resp. white) vertices. One can obtain a graph from a fundamental domain by connecting the black vertices to their neighboring white vertices. We will demonstrate this process by the following example. Note that the number of edges added to connect black and white vertices is the number of $\overline{\Delta}(2,3,\infty)$ used to tessellate the fundamental domain of Γ , which is also the index of Γ in $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

Example 3.1.1. Consider the fundamental domain with its inner tessellation for $\Gamma_0(4)$ in Figure 3.1. Then we can construct the associated BCG by adding edges connecting each black vertex to its neighboring white vertices (Figure 3.2). We also give a label to each newly added edge. If there exists a dashed line between two vertices indicating there is a pairing between them, we pair those two vertices. The resulting BCG is Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.1: $\Gamma_0(4)$ with images of the elliptic points



Figure 3.2: $\Gamma_0(4)$ with labels on the black edges



Figure 3.3: $\Gamma_0(4)$ represented as a BCG

The figures in Example 3.1.1 can also be obtained by applying Algorithm 1. **Lemma 3.** Given an index n subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, the corresponding BCG has n edges. *Proof.* Recall Proposition 1. For an index n subgroup Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, the fundamental domain of Γ contains n copies of the fundamental domain of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. From the construction of the BCG for Γ , each edge of the BCG corresponds to a copy of the fundamental domain for $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

From a BCG, we can obtain the same invariants that we found from using Farey Symbols. An even (resp. odd) leaf is a white (resp. black) vertex of degree 1. The invariants can be obtained as follows:

> $e_2 =$ number of even leaves, $e_3 =$ number of odd leaves, c = number of faces.

Recall that for a planar graph, a face is a region enclosed by a cycle. There is also the infinite face which is the region "outside" of the graph.

Example 3.1.2. In Figure 3.3, the subgraph given by edges 1 and 2 is called a face. This face corresponds to a cusp of width 1. Another face is the subgraph with edges 5 and 6.

This face corresponds to another cusp of width 1. There is also the infinite face corresponding to a cusp of width 4.

Note that not all BCG's are planar. Since BCG's come from finite index subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, there are BCG's with positive genus. A positive genus for a BCG means that the BCG contains edges that cross each other. Then the faces for that BCG become harder to identify visually. We will present a way to extend the definition of faces and identify them by using permutations in a later discussion.

Example 3.1.3. Figure 3.4 is the BCG corresponding to the subgroup $\Gamma_0(15)$. While we know the genus and the cusps of this subgroup from Figure 2.4, it is not easy to determine those invariants from the BCG.



Figure 3.4: The corresponding BCG for $\Gamma_0(15)$ in Figure 2.4

From Figure 3.4, one might be tempted to move the edges and vertices to make the graph into a plane graph. However, this might not work. Figure 3.4 is not a standard graph, but rather a BCG (recall Definition 15), so there is a cyclic ordering on the edges. By removing the crossings, the new BCG might not be isomorphic to the original BCG. We define isomorphisms between BCG's below.

Definition 16. Two BCG's are **isomorphic** if there exists a bijective map between the BCG's that sends edges to edges while keeping edge adjacency and the cyclic ordering

around the vertices.

Theorem 5 (Kulkarni [12] Theorem 4.2). There is a bijective correspondence between isomorphism classes of bipartite cuboid graphs and conjugacy classes of finite index subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

Example 3.1.4. Figure 3.5 shows two BCG's that are isomorphic to each other. Note that the cyclic ordering around each vertex is preserved along with edge adjacency. Figure 3.6 shows two BCG's that are not isomorphic to each other. As standard graphs in the plane, they are isomorphic. However, as BCG's, there is no way to label the edges so that both adjacency and cyclic ordering will be simultaneously preserved.



Figure 3.5: Isomorphic



Figure 3.6: Non-isomorphic





Figure 3.7: BCG with Genus 0



Figure 3.8: BCG with Genus 1

Examples 3.1.4 and 3.1.5 show that the process of determining the isomorphism between two BCG's is not particularly straightforward. This process only grows in difficulty as the BCG's increase in size or they become more homogeneous. Consider Figure 3.9, 3.10, and 3.11. We would like to determine if there are any isomorphisms among those three BCG's. We will use permutation representations to help us find the isomorphisms if there are any. We will find that only Figures 3.9 and 3.10 are isomorphic to each other.



Figure 3.9: A BCG with 36 edges

Figure 3.10: Another BCG with 36 edges

Figure 3.11: A third BCG with 36 edges

3.2. Interpreting Graphs as Permutations

So far, we have seen how to consider finite index subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ as Farey Symbols and BCG's. Now we consider these subgroups as permutations. Recall from Section 1.4 that we can associate a permutation representation to a finite index subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$. In the case for finite index subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, we state the following theorem from Millington [20].

Let X be a finite set of n letters and x_1 a fixed member of X. A pairing $(\sigma_2, \sigma_3)_{x_1}$ is defined as an equivalence class of pairs of permutations σ_2, σ_3 acting on X under the equivalence relation \sim , where

•
$$\sigma_2^2 = \sigma_3^3 = I$$
,

- the group generated by σ_2 and σ_3 is transitive on X,
- $(\sigma_2, \sigma_3) \sim (\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3)$ if there exists a permutation $\tau \in S_n$ such that

$$\tau \sigma_2 \tau^{-1} = \sigma'_2, \ \tau \sigma_3 \tau^{-1} = \sigma'_3, \ \tau x_1 = x_1.$$

Theorem 6 (Millington [20] Theorem 1). Suppose that $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\} \in S_n$ generate a transitive subgroup on X, a finite set of n letters. Also suppose that $\sigma_2^2 = \sigma_3^3 = 1$. Then there is a one-to-one correspondence between finite index subgroups Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and pairings $(\sigma_2, \sigma_3)_{x_1}$ acting on a set X of n letters. Moreover, Γ has invariants n, g, e_2, e_3, c satisfying the Riemann-Hurwitz formula and $n = \sum_{\alpha_i} width(\alpha_i)$, where α_i are the inequivalent cusps, if and only if

- 1. σ_2 fixes e_2 letters of X,
- 2. σ_3 fixes e_3 letters of X,
- 3. $\sigma_2\sigma_3$ consists of c disjoint cycles of length width(α_i) for inequivalent cusps α_i .

From a permutation representation, one can also obtain the standard invariants $(e_2, e_3, c, \text{etc.})$ of the corresponding finite index subgroup Γ of $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ by the results of Theorem 6. One can obtain a set of permutations for a given subgroup Γ by following the discussion in Section 1.4.

Another way to find σ_2 and σ_3 is by looking at BCG's. Recall that we can represent a finite index subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ as a BCG. For the BCG, we can give it a labeling on the edges. We can find σ_2 and σ_3 from a BCG with labels by reading the labels around each vertex in a counterclockwise orientation. The labels around each white (resp. black) vertex form a cycle in an order 2 (resp. 3) permutation. We present an example of this process below.

Example 3.2.1. For $\Gamma_0(4)$ as given in Figure 3.3, the permutations are $\sigma_2 = (1, 2)(3, 4)(5, 6)$,

 $\sigma_3 = (1,3,2)(4,5,6)$, and $\sigma_2\sigma_3 = (1)(6)(2,3,5,4)$. From Millington's Theorem 6, we can find the invariants of this subgroup. This subgroup is torsion-free. There are 3 inequivalent cusps of width 1, 1, and 4. The genus is 0.

Example 3.2.2. For $\Gamma_0(13)$, the permutations are

$$\sigma_2 = (1,3)(2,4)(5,7)(6,10)(8,13)(12,14)(9)(11)$$

$$\sigma_3 = (1,2,3)(4,5,6)(7,8,9)(10,11,12)(13)(14).$$

$$\sigma_2\sigma_3 = (1)(2,5,8,13,9,7,6,11,12,14,10,4,3)$$

This subgroup has 2 order 2 elliptic points, 2 order 3 elliptic points, and 2 cusps. One cusp is of width 1 and the other is width 13. The genus is 0.

By using permutations, we can give a new definition for faces of a BCG. **Definition 17.** For a BCG with a set of permutations $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$, the **faces** of the BCG bijectively correspond to the disjoint cycles of the permutation $\sigma_2\sigma_3$.

3.3. Isomorphisms Between BCG's

In the previous section, we established a way to go from a BCG with labelings to a set of permutations. In this section, we will work with permutations. However, associated to the permutations is a BCG. In other words, determining whether two BCG's are isomorphic is equivalent to finding the conjugation between two sets of permutations if it exists. We will establish an algorithm to go from permutations back to BCG's in a later section.

Definition 18. For permutations $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ and $\{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$ such that $\langle \sigma_2, \sigma_3 \rangle$ generate a transitive subgroup of S_n for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we say that these two sets are **conjugates** of each other if there exists a $\tau \in S_n$ such that $\tau\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}\tau^{-1} = \{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$.

Example 3.3.1. Let

$$\sigma_2 = (1,2)(3,4)(5)(6), \ \sigma_3 = (1,2,3)(4,5,6),$$

 $\sigma'_2 = (1,2)(5,6)(3)(4), \ \sigma'_3 = (1,5,6)(2,3,4)$

in S₆. Then $\tau = (6, 4, 2)(3, 1, 5)$ will satisfy $\tau \{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\} \tau^{-1} = \{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$.

Example 3.3.2. Let

$$\sigma_2 = (1,4)(2,6)(3,5), \ \sigma_3 = (1,2,3)(4,5,6),$$

$$\sigma_2' = (1,4)(3,6)(2,5), \ \sigma_3' = (1,2,3)(4,5,6)$$

in S_6 . Since conjugation does not change cycle type, if there exists a $\tau \in S_6$ that conjugates the permutations, then $\sigma_2\sigma_3$ must have the same cycle type as $\sigma'_2\sigma'_3$. However, $\sigma_2\sigma_3 = (1,5)(2,4)(3,6)$ and $\sigma'_2\sigma'_3 = (1,5,3,4,2,6)$. Therefore, there is no $\tau \in S_6$ such that $\tau\{\sigma_2,\sigma_3\}\tau^{-1} = \{\sigma'_2,\sigma'_3\}$.

As *n* increases, trying to find a conjugation $\tau \in S_n$ becomes exponentially harder if one were to naively find τ by checking all elements in S_n . We will introduce the concept of paths to produce a more sophisticated method of finding τ .

Definition 19. Let X be a set of n letters and $\sigma_2, \sigma_3 \in S_n$, a **path** starting from $k \leq n$ is a sequence $\{x_i\}, x_i \in X$ with no repeated entries where

$$x_1 = k, x_2 = \sigma_3(x_1), x_3 = \sigma_2(x_2), x_4 = \sigma_3(x_3), x_5 = \sigma_2(x_4), \dots, x_i = \sigma_j(x_{i-1})$$

where j = 3 if i is even and j = 2 if i is odd. A path is called **maximal** if $\{x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_i\}$ is a path but $x_{i+1} = x_j$ for some $j \le i$.

In the definition of paths, σ_2 and σ_3 only need to be elements of S_n . However, for σ_2 and σ_3 arising from a BCG, it is necessary that $\langle \sigma_2, \sigma_3 \rangle$ is a transitive subgroup of S_n .

From now, the set X will be the set of labels of a BCG. Also note that in the definition of paths, the starting direction is fixed.

Definition 20. Given a maximal path $p = \{x_1, \ldots, x_i\}$, if $\sigma_j(x_i) = x_k$ where $k \leq i$, then we say the **path type** of this path is (k, i - k + 1).

Example 3.3.3. Recall the graph for $\Gamma_0(4)$ (Figure 3.3) and the permutation representation $\sigma_2 = (1,2)(3,4)(5,6)$ and $\sigma_3 = (1,3,2)(4,5,6)$. A path staring at 1 would be $\{1,3,4,5,6\}$ with path type (3,3). A path starting at 3 would be $\{3,2,1\}$ with path type (1,3). To be more precise, we can track the numbers as follows:

$$3 \xrightarrow{\sigma_3} 2 \xrightarrow{\sigma_2} 1 \xrightarrow{\sigma_3} 3$$
$$1 \xrightarrow{\sigma_3} 3 \xrightarrow{\sigma_2} 4 \xrightarrow{\sigma_3} 5 \xrightarrow{\sigma_2} 6 \xrightarrow{\sigma_3} 4$$

Let P be a set containing maximal paths starting at i for $1 \le i \le n$.

Lemma 4. If $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ is conjugate to $\{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$ in S_n , then for all $p \in P$, there exists $p' \in P'$ such that |p| = |p'| and p and p' have the same path type.

Proof. Suppose that $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ is conjugate to $\{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$. Then there exists a $\tau \in S_n$ such that $\tau \sigma_2 \tau^{-1} = \sigma'_2$ and $\tau \sigma_3 \tau^{-1} = \sigma'_3$. Let $p = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k\}$ be a path in P. Let $x'_1 = \tau x_1$. Since $1 \leq x'_1 \leq n$, there is a path in P' that start at x'_1 . For the path starting at x'_1 , $x'_2 = \sigma'_3(x'_1) = \tau \sigma_3 \tau^{-1}(\tau x_1) = \tau \sigma_3(x_1) = \tau(x_2)$. Therefore, for a path $p \in P$, there exists a path $p' = \tau p$ in P' with the same length with the same path type.

Note that if x_i is a label corresponding to a leaf of a BCG, then x_i is either the starting point of a path or it is the ending point of a path.

Lemma 5. Let X be a set of n labels and $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\} \in S_n$. Let P be defined as above for X. Then $|\{\text{paths of length } 1\}| \leq \frac{n}{3} + 2$.

Proof. By definition of a path, paths of length 1 correspond to elliptic points of order 3.

Then consider the Riemann-Hurwitz formula for $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$

$$g = 1 + \frac{n}{12} - \frac{e_2}{4} - \frac{e_3}{3} - \frac{c}{2}$$

where n is the index, g is the genus, e_2, e_3 are the number of elliptic points of the corresponding order, and c is the number of cusps. Some rearrangement yields

$$e_2 + \frac{4e_3}{3} = 4 + \frac{n}{3} - 2c - 4g$$

So we have

$$e_2 + e_3 \le 4 + \frac{n}{3} - 2c - 4g$$

 $\le 4 + \frac{n}{3} - 2 - 4g$
 $\le \frac{n}{3} + 2.$

Definition 21. A covering of a set X with n labels is a minimal set $\{p_i\} \in P$ such that $\cup_i p_i \supseteq \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}.$

By using the definitions above and Lemma 4, we can now describe how to determine whether or not two sets of permutations are conjugate of one another, and correspondingly, whether or not two BCG's are isomorphic to each other. First we want to note that for $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ and $\{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$ in S_n , the sets P and P' are finite. Specifically, |P| =|P'| = n. The set P also contains a longest path, say p_1 . By Lemma 4, if there exists a conjugation τ , then p_1 is mapped to some p'_1 in P' with the same length and path type. We then attempt to construct τ by looking at the mappings of the paths. In the worstcase scenario, we have to look at all mappings of p_1 into P'. Then we use a depth-first search starting from p_1 to get a covering C. In terms of graphs, this is the same as finding a spanning tree. We find C' using the same depth-first search. If at any time where p_i does not match up with p'_i , then we have to choose a new path p'_1 and do the depth-first search again. Therefore, by the end of the algorithm, we either found a possible candidate τ or we exhausted all possible mappings for p_1 . Then we verify whether τ is indeed the conjugation.

Theorem 7. Algorithm 2 terminates and produces a conjugate τ between $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ and $\{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$ if it exists. This algorithm have time complexity $\mathcal{O}(n^3)$ where n is size of the set X.

Proof. Suppose that the time it takes for a program to compare two elements or to do one computation is 1 time unit. For a set X with n labels, finding P takes n^2 time units. Finding P' would also take n^2 time units. Therefore, finding P and P' would take $2n^2$ time units. In the worst-case scenario, we have to map $p_1 \in P$ to all paths in P' before finding the correct map or conclude that such a map does not exist. This will take at most n time units. Finding a covering will take n^2 time units. At worse, we need to find a covering C' for each mapping of p_1 . Altogether, it would take time $\mathcal{O}(n^3)$ to determine whether or not a conjugation element τ exists.

Note that if there are invariants between $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ and $\{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$ that do not correlate, then $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ and $\{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$ are not conjugates. We only go through the full algorithm when the corresponding BCG's are extremely similar (for example Figure 3.6).

Algorithm 2 Determining Isomorphism Between 2 BCG's

- 1: Given 2 BCG's, find the corresponding permutation representation $\sigma = \{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ and $\sigma' = \{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$
- 2: Check possible invariants between σ and σ'

3: if Some invariants do not match up then

4: Output "Not conjugate" and Terminate

5: end if

6:
$$i = 1, C' = \{\}$$

- 7: Pick one of the longest paths $p_1 \in P$, and let $C = \{p_1\}$
- 8: while There is no isomorphism \mathbf{do}

9: Find
$$p'_i \in P'$$
 that matches $p_i \in C$ by depth-first search

10: **if**
$$p'_i$$
 exists and $i = 1$ **then**

11: Add
$$p'_i$$
 to C'

12: Remove
$$p'_i$$
 from P'

13: else if
$$p'_i$$
 does not exist and $i = 1$ then

16: **if** no such
$$p'_i$$
 exists and $i \neq 1$ **then**

17:
$$i = 1$$

18: $C' = \{\}$

19: Go back to start of While

```
20: else
```

21:	if C is not a covering and $ C = i$ then
22:	Find $p_{i+1} \in P$ by depth first search
23:	Add p_{i+1} to C
24:	else if C is a covering and $ C = i$ then
25:	Find and check τ using C and C'.

26:	If τ is a conjugate, output τ and Terminate.
27:	If not, $i = 1, C' = \{\}$ and go back to start of while
28:	end if
29:	i = i + 1
30:	end if
31:	end while

The implementation of Algorithm 2 can be found on the author's website [23] in the file of the same name. We can then use this algorithm to classify subgroups of triangle groups. Note that algorithms for classifying subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ already exist (for example [3] and [30]). However, those algorithms are restricted to $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. On the other hand, Algorithm 2 works for subgroups of any triangle group with permutation representation $\{\sigma_a, \sigma_b\}$. We will demonstrate this in Section 4.4 for classifying subgroups of $\overline{\Delta}(2, 4, 6)$. **Example 3.3.4.** Let

$$\begin{split} \sigma_2 &= (1,3)(2,4)(5,13)(6,7)(8,21)(9,10)(11,12)(14,16)(15,19)(17,18)(20,22)(23,24) \\ \sigma_3 &= (1,2,3)(4,5,6)(7,8,9)(10,11,12)(13,14,15)(16,17,18)(19,20,21)(22,23,24) \\ \sigma_2\sigma_3 &= (2,5,14,17,16,15,20,23,22,21,9,11,10,7,4,3)(6,8,19,13) \\ \sigma_2' &= (1,3)(2,4)(5,13)(6,7)(8,21)(9,10)(11,12)(14,16)(15,19)(17,18)(20,22)(23,24) \\ \sigma_3' &= (1,2,3)(4,6,5)(7,9,8)(10,11,12)(13,15,14)(16,17,18)(19,21,20)(22,23,24) \\ \sigma_2'\sigma_3' &= (2,6,9,11,10,8,20,23,22,19,14,17,16,13,4,3)(5,15,21,7) \end{split}$$

These permutations represent two conjugacy classes of index 24 subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. Since there is no differences in the obvious invariants such as the number of

```
In [6]: import sage_bcg_isom_general
        from sage.all import
        from importlib import reload
        reload(sage_bcg_isom_general)
        n=24
        G = SymmetricGroup(n)
        siga = G('(1,3)(2,4)(6,7)(9,10)(11,12)(5,13)(8,21)(14,16)(17,18)(15,19)(20,22)(23,24)')
        sigb = G('(1,2,3)(4,5,6)(7,8,9)(10,11,12)(13,14,15)(16,17,18)(19,20,21)(22,23,24)')
        sigaprime = G('(1,3)(2,4)(6,7)(9,10)(11,12)(5,13)(8,21)(14,16)(17,18)(15,19)(20,22)(23,24)')
        sigbprime = G('(1,2,3)(5,4,6)(7,9,8)(10,11,12)(13,15,14)(16,17,18)(19,21,20)(22,23,24)')
        sage_bcg_isom_general.isom(siga, sigb, sigaprime, sigbprime, n)
        siga (1,3) (2,4) (5,13) (6,7) (8,21) (9,10) (11,12) (14,16) (15,19) (17,18) (20,22) (23,24)
        sigb (1,2,3) (4,5,6) (7,8,9) (10,11,12) (13,14,15) (16,17,18) (19,20,21) (22,23,24)
        sigaprime (1,3) (2,4) (5,13) (6,7) (8,21) (9,10) (11,12) (14,16) (15,19) (17,18) (20,22) (23,24)
        sigbprime (1,2,3) (4,6,5) (7,9,8) (10,11,12) (13,15,14) (16,17,18) (19,21,20) (22,23,24)
        Isomorphic with tau = (5,6) (7,13) (8,15) (9,14) (10,16) (11,17) (12,18) (19,21)
```

Figure 3.12: Example 1 of Algorithm 2

elliptic points or cusps, we cannot yet determine if these two conjugacy classes are the same. We apply the algorithm to determine that they are conjugates (Figure 3.12).

Example 3.3.5. Let

$$\begin{split} \sigma_2 &= (1,2)(3,4)(5,10)(6,7)(8,9)(11,16)(12,13)(14,15)(17,19)(18,24)(20,23)(21,22) \\ \sigma_3 &= (1,2,3)(4,5,6)(7,8,9)(10,11,12)(13,14,15)(16,17,18)(19,20,21)(22,23,24) \\ \sigma_2\sigma_3 &= (1,3,5,11,17,20,24,16,12,14,13,10,6,8,7,4)(18,22,19)(21,23) \\ \sigma_2' &= (1,2)(3,4)(5,10)(6,7)(8,9)(11,16)(12,13)(14,15)(17,19)(18,24)(20,23)(21,22) \\ \sigma_3' &= (1,2,3)(4,5,6)(7,8,9)(10,12,11)(13,14,15)(16,17,18)(19,20,21)(22,23,24) \\ \sigma_2'\sigma_3' &= (1,3,5,12,14,13,11,17,20,24,16,10,6,8,7,4)(18,22,19)(21,23) \end{split}$$

Once more, the two sets of permutations produce the same set of invariants. However, the algorithm determines that these two sets of permutations are not conjugates (Figure 3.13). By looking at the paths, the longest path for $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ starts at 2. The path



Figure 3.13: Second example of Algorithm 2

has length 13 with path type (7,7). The longest path for $\{\sigma'_2, \sigma'_3\}$ starts at 19 and also have length 13. However, the path type is (11,3).

3.4. Permutations Back to BCG's

From a BCG with labelings, we saw how one can obtain the corresponding set of permutations that represent the given BCG. Now, we can apply the idea of paths and covering to obtain a BCG from a set of permutations. The main idea of the algorithm is to reverse the process of finding a covering. For the algorithm, any newly added edges will be added in a clockwise manner.

Algorithm 3 Produce a BCG from a set of permutations	
1: Given $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\} \in S_n$, find the set P	

- 2: Find a covering C as in Algorithm 2
- 3: For $c_1 \in C$, draw a path for c_1 including the path type and label the edges
- 4: for c_i in C with i > 1 do
- 5: Draw c_i including the path type. Anytime a new edge is found, it is added in a clockwise manner

6: end for

7: Output the BCG corresponding to the set of permutations

For a given covering C, the algorithm runs through C without having to look at any element more than once. This will give us linear time for the for-loop in the algorithm. The majority of the time cost will be in finding P and C. As before, finding P and C will take $\mathcal{O}(n^2)$ time.

3.5. BCG's Back to Generalized Farey Symbols

Given a BCG, one can also obtain a Farey Symbol. The following algorithm is from

Caranica's thesis [1].

Algorithm 4 Produce a Farey Symbol given a graph
1: Break up the graph at even vertices until the graph is a tree

- 2: Pick a leaf as the starting vertex
- 3: if starting vertex is odd then
- 4: Assign the vertex and the adjacent vertex the set $a = \{\frac{0}{1}, \frac{1}{0}\}$

5: else

6: Assign the vertex the set $a = \{\frac{0}{1}, \frac{1}{0}\}$

7: end if

8: while there are leaves without a set do

9: Pick an odd vertex that is adjacent to an even vertex that has been assigned a set

10: Set a to be the set of that even vertex

11: In a counterclockwise manner starting from the chosen odd vertex, assign the adjacent even vertices that does not have a set the set $b = {\text{mediant}(a), \min(a)}$ and $c = {\text{mediant}(a), \max(a)}$ respectively 12: end while

13: For any remaining odd leaves, assign to it the same set as the one for their adjacent

even vertex.

Note that in the algorithm above, the choice of the starting leaf was not defined. By choosing different leaves as the starting point, one might obtain different Farey Symbols which represent different subgroups. However, those subgroups will be in the same conjugacy class.

Definition 22. Any BCG with a fixed starting vertex is called a **marked bipartite cuboid graph**.

Theorem 8 (Vidal [30]). There is a one-to-one correspondence between the marked bipartite cuboid graphs and finite index subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

Example 3.5.1. Consider the subgroup $\Gamma_0(3)$. The BCG corresponding to $\Gamma_0(3)$ is Figure 3.14.



Figure 3.14: The BCG for $\Gamma_0(3)$

We apply Caranica's Algorithm 4 to the BCG to find a Farey Symbol. We begin by breaking up the cycles.



Figure 3.15: The tree for $\Gamma_0(3)$

Now we have choices for a starting leaf. We choose the two even leaves and find the corresponding Farey Symbols using the algorithm.





Figure 3.16: Choosing the bottom leaf as the starting leaf



The dashed lines in Figures 3.16 and 3.17 are there to remind us that we need

to pair up the corresponding entries in the Farey Symbols. The Farey Symbols for both

graphs are below.

$$-\underbrace{\infty \quad 0 \quad 1 \quad \infty}_{1 \quad \bullet \quad 1}$$

Figure 3.18: Farey Symbol for Figure 3.16

$$\underbrace{-\infty \quad 0 \quad 1 \quad \infty}_{1 \quad 1 \quad 1 \quad \bullet}$$

Figure 3.19: Farey Symbol for Figure 3.17

The generators for the left Farey Symbol are $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 3 & -2 \end{bmatrix}$. The generators for the right Farey Symbol are $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} 2 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. These generators have the follow-

ing relations

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -1 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 3 & -2 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 2 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1}.$$

These two Farey Symbols represent different subgroups in the same conjugacy class in $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

As we discussed in previous sections, there is a bijection between labeled BCG's and sets of permutations. This allows us to translate Algorithm 4 into an algorithm that takes in a set of permutations and produces a Farey Symbol.

Algorithm 5 Produce a Farey Symbol given a set of permutations

- 1: Given $\{\sigma_2, \sigma_3\} \in S_n$. Create σ'_2 by splitting all possible length-2 cycles of σ_2 into length-1 cycles such that $\langle \sigma'_2, \sigma_3 \rangle$ remains a transitive subgroup of S_n
- 2: Pick a 1 cycle from σ_2' or σ_3 as the starting point and denoted it as x_1
- 3: unchecked = []
- 4: if x_1 is in σ_3 then

5: Assign
$$x_1$$
 and $x_2 = \sigma_2(x_1)$ the set $a_1 = \{\frac{0}{1}, \frac{1}{0}\}$

6: Add x_2 to unchecked

7: else

- 8: Assign x_1 the set $a_1 = \{\frac{0}{1}, \frac{1}{0}\}$
- 9: Add x_1 to unchecked

10: end if

- 11: checked = []
- 12: while there are still x_i in unchecked[] do

13: Find
$$x_{i+1} = \sigma_3(x_i)$$
 and $x_{i+2} = \sigma_3(x_{i+1})$

14: **if**
$$x_{i+1} ! = x_{i+2}$$
 then

15: Assign
$$x_{i+1}$$
 (resp. x_{i+2}) the set $a_{i+1} = \{ \text{mediant}(a_i), \min(a_i) \}$ (resp. $a_{i+2} = \{ \text{mediant}(a_i), \max(a_i) \})$

16: Assign
$$\sigma'_2(x_{i+1})$$
 (resp. $\sigma'_2(x_{i+2})$) the set $a_{i+1} = \{ \text{mediant}(a_i), \min(a_i) \}$ (resp.
 $a_{i+2} = \{ \text{mediant}(a_i), \max(a_i) \})$

17: If
$$\sigma'_2(x_{i+1}) ! = x_{i+1}$$
, add $\sigma'_2(x_{i+1})$ to unchecked[]. Else, add x_{i+1} to checked[]

18: If
$$\sigma'_2(x_{i+2}) = x_{i+2}$$
, add $\sigma'_2(x_{i+2})$ to unchecked[]. Else, add x_{i+2} to checked[]

19: Remove x_i from unchecked[]

20: Add x_i to checked[]

21: else

22: Remove x_i from unchecked[]

23: Add x_i to checked[]

24: end if

25: end while

26: For x_i corresponding to length-1 cycles in σ'_2 or σ_3 , the associated set a_i gives the entries in the Farey symbols.

27: If $\sigma_3(x_i) = x_i$, then it is an odd pairing. If $\sigma_2(x_i) = x_i$, then it is an even pairing. If x_i, x_j are in a 2-cycle in σ_2 , then it is a free pairing.

Example 3.5.2. Let

 $\sigma_2 = (1,7)(2,11)(3,4)(5,10)(6,8)(9,12)$

 $\sigma_3 = (1, 2, 3)(4, 5, 6)(7, 8, 9)(10, 11, 12).$

Then we have

 $\sigma_2' = (1)(7)(2)(11)(3,4)(5)(10)(6,8)(9,12).$

Let $x_1 = 1$ and attach $a_1 = \{\frac{0}{1}, \frac{1}{0}\}.$

The algorithm will produce the list in Table 3.1.

$(1, \{\frac{0}{1}, \frac{1}{0}\})$	$(4,\{1,\frac{1}{0}\})$	$(8, \{2, \frac{1}{0}\})$	$(12, \{3, 2\})$
$(2,\{\frac{\bar{0}}{1},1\})$	$(5, \{2, 1\})$	$(9, \{3, 2\})$	$(10, \{\frac{5}{2}, 2\})$
$(3, \{\overline{1}, \frac{1}{0}\})$	$(6, \{2, \frac{1}{0}\})$	$(7, \{3, \frac{1}{0}\})$	$(11, \{\frac{5}{2}, 3\})$

Table 3.1: Edges and labelings from Algorithm 5

Since 1, 2, 5, 7, 10, 11 are 1-cycle in σ'_2 , the generalized Farey Sequence is

 $-\infty \ 0 \ 1 \ 2 \ \frac{5}{2} \ 3 \ \infty$

Then we use σ_2 and σ_3 to get the appropriate pairings. A Farey Symbol for a subgroup in this conjugacy class is

$-\infty$	0	1	2	$\frac{5}{2}$	3	∞
1	۲ ۲	2 3	3	8 2	2	1

This Farey Symbol has generators



Figure 3.20: A special polygon corresponding to the Farey Symbol in Example 3.5.2

Note that the labelings on the graph in Figure 3.20 does not match the given σ_2 . However, they are conjugates by $\tau = (4, 12, 8, 6, 11, 7, 5, 10, 9)$.

Once again, the implementation of these algorithms can be found on the author's website [23].

Chapter 4. Extension to General Triangle Groups

4.1. Introduction

In this section, we will discuss general triangle groups. As these groups arise naturally from hyperbolic geometry, they are used in many other contexts. As mentioned previously, these triangle groups are not only groups but can also be interpreted as Riemann surfaces and modular curves. Shimura's works on these subgroups led to a class of algebraic curves known as Shimura curves [26]. Takeuchi [28] considered a special class of triangle groups called arithmetic triangle groups and produced a classification for all arithmetic triangle groups. Clark and Voight [2] worked with these curves and their corresponding Belyı́ maps to extend the idea of congruence subgroups to finite index subgroups of hyperbolic triangle groups. Triangle groups also arise in Tu and Yang's works [29] [33] on transformations of hypergeometric functions. Note that this list is not exhaustive as there are many more people who are working on this topic such as Elkies [7], Sijsling [27], Milne [21], Fuselier, Long, Ramakrishna, Swisher and Tu [8], and Voight [31, 32, etc].

4.2. Drawing Fundamental Domains for Finite Index Subgroups of $\triangle(a, b, c)$

Let Γ be a finite index subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ represented by σ_a and σ_b . Ling Long, Fang-Ting Tu, and I collaborated to produce the following algorithm to draw a fundamental domain for Γ . The implementation of this algorithm and the algorithms above can be obtained on the author's website [23]. This algorithm will also output a set of generators and the associated pairings of the boundaries. The method used in this algorithm relies on the discussions in Sections 1.3, 1.4, and 1.5.

Note that John Voight also created a variant of this algorithm using quaternion

algebras [16, 31, 32].

Algorithm 6 Draw a fundamental domain for a given finite index subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$

- 1: Given a finite index subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ represented as a pair of permutations $\{\sigma_a, \sigma_b\}$, use the embeddings given in (1.3) and (1.4) to obtain generators $\langle g_a, g_b \rangle$ for $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ with $g_a^a == g_b^b == (g_a g_b)^c == \pm I$
- 2: Using fixed points of g_a , g_b , and $g_a g_b$, draw a hyperbolic triangle $\triangle(a, b, c)$. Then we reflect the triangle across the geodesic connecting the fixed points of g_a and g_b . The union of the two copies is a fundamental domain for $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$.
- 3: For a given subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ of index *n* given by permutations σ_a and σ_b where $\sigma_a^a == \sigma_b^b == (\sigma_a \sigma_b)^c == \pm 1$, check if σ_a and σ_b form a transitive subgroup of S_n . If yes, continue. If not, Terminate.
- 4: Pick i = 1 to represent the fundamental domain of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$
- 5: checkedlist = [1]
- 6: matrixlist = [I]
- 7: k = a
- 8: while len(checkedlist) < n do
- 9: **for** i in checkedlist **do**
- 10: **if** $\sigma_k(i)$ not in checkedlist **then**
- 11: Add $\sigma_k(i)$ to checkedlist
- 12: Add matrixlist[checkedlist.index(i)]* g_k to matrixlist
- 13: end if
- 14: **end for**

15: if k==a then

16:	k=b	
17:	else	
18:	k=a	
19:	end if	
20:	Draw the translations	s of $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(a, b, c)$ using matrices in matrixlist[]
21:	end while	

22: Find the pairing for the boundaries and the matrices corresponding to the fixed points

23: Output a fundamental domain and a set of generators

Examples for Algorithm 6 can be found in the Appendix.

4.3. Group Membership

Lemma 6. For $\{g_a, g_b\}$ defined in equations (1.3) and (1.4), the fixed points of g_a and g_b have real parts equal to 0.

Proof. Let $g_a = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ -b & a \end{bmatrix}$ and $g_b = \begin{bmatrix} a & tb \\ -b/t & a \end{bmatrix}$ where t came from the embeddings in Section 1.3. Finding the fixed point(s) z for g_a gives us $z^2 = -1$. Finding the fixed point(s) z for g_b gives us $z^2 = -t^2$ where t is defined in equation (1.5).

From the proof of Lemma 6, we can see that i will be a fixed point of the fundamental domain of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ given by g_a and g_b . This lemma allows us to use the idea of Lim, Lang, and Tan [15] to create an algorithm to check whether a matrix $M \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is in $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ under the embeddings given in Section 1.3.

We will briefly discuss Lim, Lang, and Tan's algorithm. For a matrix $M = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, there exists a geodesic with endpoints $\frac{b}{d}$ and $\frac{a}{c}$. This geodesic is the

image of the geodesic $\{0, \infty\}$ under the action of M. For a finite index subgroup Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, let F be a special polygon corresponding to Γ and $\{g_i\}$ be the corresponding generating set. Then using powers of $\{g_i\}$, the algorithm will move the geodesic $\{\frac{b}{d}, \frac{a}{c}\}$ back into the special polygon. After a finite number of steps, we obtain a matrix M_k such that $M_k(\{\frac{b}{d}, \frac{a}{c}\})$ intersects F. If $M_k(\{\frac{b}{d}, \frac{a}{c}\})$ lies on the boundary of F, then M is in Γ . Otherwise, M is not in Γ .

We extend this algorithm to general $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$ with generating set $\{g_a, g_b\}$ by first drawing a fundamental domain F and picking a starting line. Let l be the partial geodesic containing i on the boundary of F with endpoints x and y fixed by $g_a g_b$ and $g_b g_a$ respectively. For $M \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})$, let l' = M(l). Then we apply powers of the generators $\{g_a, g_b\}$ to l' to bring it back into F. At each step, we choose the power that reduces the hyperbolic distance between i and the current location of the image of i. After a finite number of steps, we obtain a matrix M_k such that $M_k(l')$ intersects F. If $M_k(l')$ is a boundary of F, then M is in $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$. If $M_k(l')$ intersects F at either x or y, apply powers of $g_a g_b$ or $g_b g_a$ and check if $(g_a g_b)^j M_k(l')$ (or $(g_b g_a)^j M_k(l')$) for $1 \leq j \leq \operatorname{order}(g_a g_b)$ is a boundary of F. If $M_k(l')$ intersects F at any other points, M is not in $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$. This process will also give M as a word using the generators of $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$.

Algorithm 7 Determine whether a matrix $M \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is in $\overline{\Delta}(a, b, c)$

1: Use Algorithm 6 to get a fundamental domain F and a set of generators $\{g_a, g_b\}$ for

 $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(a,b,c)$ with $g_a^a == g_b^b == (g_a g_b)^c == \pm I$

2: if M is a generator or $\pm I$ then

3: Terminate and output "In group"

4: **end if**

5:	Pick the boundary on the fundamental domain with endpoints $\{x,y\}$ where				
	$x = \text{Fixedpoint}(g_a g_b) \text{ and } y = \text{Fixedpoint}(g_b g_a)$				
6:	$\{x1, y1\} = M\{x, y\}$				
7:	$mid = \operatorname{Midpoint}(x, y)$				
8:	mid1 = Midpoint(x1, y1)				
9:	d1 = HyperbolicDistance(mid, mid1)				
10:	word = $[]$				
11:	while $d1 > 0$ do				
12:	for k from 1 to $b-1$ do				
13:	Find the distance d between $g_b^k mid1$ and mid				
14:	if $d < d1$ then				
15:	$d1 = d; mid1 = g_b^k mid1; \{x1, y1\} = g_b^k \{x, y\}; \text{gtemp} = g_b^k$				
16:	end if				
17:	end for				
18:	Add gtemp to word[]				
19:	if $\{x1, y1\}$ intersects F but $x1 \neq x$ and $y1 \neq y$ then				
20:	Terminate and output "Not in group"				
21:	end if				
22:	if $a \neq 2$ then				
23:	for k from 1 to $a - 1$ do				
24:	Find the distance d between $g_a^k mid1$ and mid				
25:	if $d < d1$ then				
26:	$d1 = d; mid1 = g_a^k mid1; \{x1, y1\} = g_a^k \{x, y\}; \text{gtemp} = g_a^k$				

27:	end if
28:	end for
29:	Add gtemp to word[]
30:	if $\{x1, y1\}$ intersects F but $x1 \neq x$ and $y1 \neq y$ then
31:	Terminate and output "Not in group"
32:	end if
33:	else
34:	Find the distance d between $g_a mid1$ and mid
35:	d1 = d
36:	$mid1 = g_1 mid1$
37:	$\{x1, y1\} = g_1\{x, y\}$
38:	Add g_a to word[]
39:	end if
40:	if $\{x1, y1\}$ intersects F but $x1 \neq x$ and $y1 \neq y$ then
41:	Terminate and output "Not in group"
42:	end if
43:	end while
44:	if $\{x1, y1\}$ intersects F but $x1 \neq x$ and $y1 \neq y$ then
45:	Terminate and output "Not in group"
46:	else
47:	Terminate, output "In group", output word[]
48:	end if

Example 4.3.1. Let

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-16-10\sqrt{3}}{(1+\sqrt{3})^3} & \frac{\sqrt{2}(16+9\sqrt{3})}{(1+\sqrt{3})^2} \\ \frac{(-22-12\sqrt{3})\sqrt{2}}{(1+\sqrt{3})^4} & \frac{34+20\sqrt{3}}{(1+\sqrt{3})^3} \end{bmatrix},$$
$$g_a = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \ g_b = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{1+\sqrt{3}} & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Figures 4.1 to 4.5 show the steps that the algorithm takes to determine whether a matrix

 $M \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ is in $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$ with generating set $\{g_a, g_b\}$.



Figure 4.6 shows M written as a word using $g_1 = g_a$ and $g_2 = g_b$

$$M = g_2 g_1 g_2^2 g_1 g_2 g_1 g_2^3.$$

4.4. Classifications of Subgroups of $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$ up to Index 11

In this section, we will list the conjugacy classes of finite index subgroups of

 $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$ up to index 11. We present the conjugacy classes in terms of their permutation

representations.

For a given index n, we fix an order 2 permutation σ_2 . Then we iterate through S_n to find all possible order 4 permutations σ_4 satisfying the relations in equation (1.1) and produce a transitive subgroup in S_n . This process gives us a list of pairs of permutations. Then we use Algorithm 2 to check for isomorphisms between the pairs of permutations which then give a complete list of conjugacy classes of index n subgroups.

The invariants of a given subgroup can be obtained from the corresponding permutations σ_2 and σ_4 . The elliptic points of $\overline{\Delta}(2, 4, 6)$ have order dividing 2, 3, 4, or 6. If we write the permutations σ_2 , σ_4 , and $\sigma_2\sigma_4$ as products of disjoint cycles, then the numbers of elliptic points of order 2, 3, 4, and 6 are:

> e_2 =number of length-1 cycles of σ_2 + number of length-2 cycles of σ_4 , + number of length-3 cycles of $\sigma_2\sigma_4$, e_3 =number of length-2 cycles of $\sigma_2\sigma_4$, e_4 =number of length-1 cycles of σ_4 e_6 =number of length-1 cycles of $\sigma_2\sigma_4$.

Using the Riemann-Hurwitz formula 1.2, we find that the genus formula for subgroups of $\overline{\Delta}(2,4,6)$ is

$$g = \frac{1}{24}n - \frac{3}{8}e_4 - \frac{1}{2}e_3 - \frac{1}{4}e_2 - \frac{5}{12}e_6 + 1.$$

Index	Order 2	Order 4	Order 6	Genus
(1,2)		(1)(2)	(1,2)	0
2	(1,2)	(1,2)	(1)(2)	0
	(1)(2)	(1,2)	(1,2)	0
3	(1,2)	(2,3)	(1,3,2)	0
	(1,2)(3)	(1,3,2,4)	(1,4)(2,3)	0
4	(1,2)(3)	(1,3,4,2)	(2,3,4)	0
4	(1,2)(3,4)	(1,3)(2,4)	(1,4)(2,3)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)	(1,3,4,2)	(2,3)	0
5	(1,2)(3,4)	(2,4,5,3)	(1,4,2)(3,5)	0
	(1,2)	(1,5)(2,3,4,6)	(1,3,4,6,2,5)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)	(1,4)(2,5)(3,6)	(1,5,2,4,6,3)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)	(1,4,5,6)	(1,2,4,3,5,6)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)	(1,4)(2,6,3,5)	(1,6,3)(2,4,5)	0
6	(1,2)(3,4)	(1,5,4,6)	(1,2,5,4,3,6)	0
0	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,4)(2,5)(3,6)	(1,5,3)(2,4,6)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,5,2,4)(3,6)	(1,4,6,2,5,3)	1
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,5)(2,3,4,6)	(1,3,6)(2,5)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(2,5)(4,6)	(1,5,4,3,6,2)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1, 6, 2, 3)	(1,3,4)(2,6,5)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(2,4,5,6)(3,7)	(1,4,7,3,5,2)	0
7	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(2,5,6,4)(3,7)	(1,5,4,7,3,2)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,2,7,3)(4,5)	(1,7,3,5,6,4)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,2,3,7)(4,5)	(1,3,5,6,4,7)	0

Table 4.1: A Table of Conjugacy Classes of Subgroups of $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6),$ Index 1-7

	Index	Order 2	Order 4	Order 6	Genus
	8	(1,2)(3,4)	(1,6,8,3)(2,4,5,7)	(1,4)(2,6,8,3,5,7)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)	(1,3,6,4)(2,8,7,5)	(1,8,7,5,2,3)(4,6)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,4,8,5)(2,6)(3,7)	(1,6)(2,4,7,3,8,5)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,4,7,3)(2,6)(5,8)	(1, 6, 8, 5, 2, 4)(3, 7)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,2,7,5)(3,4,8,6)	(1,7,5,3,8,6)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	$(1,\!6,\!8,\!3)(2,\!4,\!5,\!7)$	(1,4)(2,6,7)(3,5,8)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	$(1,\!8,\!4,\!6)(2,\!5,\!7,\!3)$	(1,5)(2,8,4)(3,6,7)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,7,3,5)(2,6)(4,8)	(1,6)(2,7,3,8,4,5)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	$(1,\!2,\!5,\!7)(3,\!4,\!6,\!8)$	(1,5,8,3,6,7)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,2,4,7)(3,5,6,8)	(1,4,5,8,3,7)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1, 8, 3, 6)(2, 4, 5, 7)	(1,4,6,7,3,5)(2,8)	1
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,7)(2,3,6,8)	(1,3,4,6,5,8)(2,7)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,2,7,5)(3,4,8,6)	(1,7,6)(3,8,5)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,4,8,5)(2,6,7,3)	(1,6)(2,4)(3,8)(5,7)	0
	9	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,8,6,4)(2,9,7,5)	(1,9,7,5,4,3)(2,8,6)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1, 9, 3, 7)(2, 4, 6, 8)	(1,4,7)(2,9,3,6,5,8)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,9,5,7)(2,6,8,4)	(1,6,7)(2,9,5,8,4,3)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)	(1,7,8,9)(2,3,5,4)	(1,3,2,7,8,9)(4,5,6)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,8)(2,3,7,9)(4,5)	(1,3,5,6,4,7)(2,8,9)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,6)(2,7)(4,9,5,8)	(1,7,4,3,9,5)(2,6,8)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(2,5,6,7)(3,9,4,8)	(1,5,7,3,8,2)(4,9)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,3,2,7)(5,8)(6,9)	(1,7,5,9,6,8)(2,3,4)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,7,9,4)(2,5,6,8)	(1,5,8,9,4,3)(2,7)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,6,5,4)(2,3,8,9)	(1,3)(2,6,4,8,7,9)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(2,7,4,3)(5,9,6,8)	(1,7,5,8,4,2)(6,9)	0
		(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,5,8,9)(3,6)(4,7)	(1,2,5,3,7,9)(4,6,8)	0

Table 4.2: A Table of Conjugacy Classes of Subgroups of $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$, Index 8-9

Index	Order 2	Order 4	Order 6	Genus
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,5,10,6)(2,7)(3,9,4,8)	(1,7,3,8,2,5)(4,9)(6,10)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,2,7,3)(4,9,5,8)(6,10)	(1,7,4)(3,9,5,10,6,8)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,2,8,4)(3,6,10,7)(5,9)	(1,8,3)(4,6,9,5,10,7)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,8,5,2)(3,10,9,6)(4,7)	(2,8,4,10,9,6)(3,7,5)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,8,3,6)(2,9,4,7)(5,10)	(1,9,4,6,10,5)(2,8)(3,7)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,5,10,6)(2,9,4,7)(3,8)	(1,9,4,8,2,5)(3,7)(6,10)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,2,9,6)(3,10,8,5)(4,7)	(1,9,6,3,7,5)(4,10,8)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,6,7,8)(2,4,5,9)(3,10)	(1,4,10,3,5,7)(2,6,9)	0
10	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,8,4,6)(2,10,9,7)(3,5)	(1,10,9,7,4,5)(2,8)(3,6)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,8)(2,6,7,9)(3,5,10,4)	(1,6,10,4,5,7)(2,8,9)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,4,5,6)(2,10,9,7)(3,8)	(1,10,9,7,3,5)(2,4,8)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)	(1,9,4,7)(2,8)(3,6,10,5)	(1,8)(2,9,4,6,3,7)(5,10)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,6,9,4)(2,7)(3,10,5,8)	(1,7,3)(2,6,8)(4,10)(5,9)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,7,5,2)(3,9,8,6)	(2,7,6)(3,4,9,10,8,5)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,10,2,3)(4,7,6,5)	(1,3,7,8,6,4)(2,10,9)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,10,2,3)(4,8,7,6)	(1,3,8,6,5,4)(2,10,9)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,10,4,8)(2,5,3,9)	(1,5,6,3,8,7)(2,10)(4,9)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,9)(2,4,7,10)(3,6,8,11)	(1,4,6,5,8,10)(2,9)(3,7,11)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,6,11,7)(2,8)(4,10,5,9)	(1,8)(2,6,9,5,11,7)(3,10,4)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(2,9,4,7)(3,6,11,8)(5,10)	(1,9,5,11,8,2)(3,7)(4,6,10)	0
11	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(2,8,3,7)(4,9)(5,11,6,10)	(1,8,2)(3,9,5,10,4,7)(6,11)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,11,6,8)(2,7,9,4)(5,10)	(1,7)(2,11,6,10,4,3)(5,8,9)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,11,6,8)(2,7,10,5)(4,9)	(1,7)(2,11,6)(3,9,5,8,10,4)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,8,11,5)(2,6,7,9)(4,10)	(1,6)(2,8,9,4,3,10)(5,7,11)	0
	(1,2)(3,4)(5,6)(7,8)(9,10)	(1,7,11,6)(2,8)(4,10,5,9)	(1,8,11,6,9,5)(2,7)(3,10,4)	0

Table 4.3: A Table of Conjugacy Classes of Subgroups of $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$, Index 10-11

Appendix. Examples for $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$

Example 0.0.1. Using Algorithm 6, we can get a fundamental domain for the triangle group $\overline{\Delta}(2,4,6)$ as given in Figure 1.

```
The permutations are ta= () tb= () tc= () with a,b,c = 2 4 6
ta elliptic points: [1]
tb elliptic points: [1]
ta pairs: []
A list of generators:
[
[
[0.00000000000000 1.000000000000]
[-1.00000000000000]
[-1.00000000000000],
[ 0.707106781186547 1.36602540378444]
[-0.366025403784439 0.707106781186547]
]
```

The boundaries of the fundamental domain: [1, 1, 1, 1]



Figure 1: A fundamental domain for $\overline{\bigtriangleup}(2,4,6)$

Example 0.0.2. Let

$$\sigma_2 = (1, 4)(2, 5)(3, 6)$$

$$\sigma_4 = (1, 2, 3, 4)(5, 6)$$

$$\sigma_6 = (1)(2, 6, 4)(3, 5).$$

Then Algorithm 6 produced a fundamental domain and generators given in Figure

2.

```
The permutations are ta= (1,4)(2,5)(3,6) tb= (1,2,3,4)(5,6) tc= (2,6,4)(3,5) with a,b,c = 2 4 6
ta elliptic points: []
tb elliptic points: [5]
ta pairs: [[1, 4], [3, 6]]
tb pairs: [[5, 6]]
A list of generators:
٢
[-0.517638090205041
                      2.73205080756888]
[-0.732050807568877
                      1.93185165257814],
[-0.707106781186547
                      1.36602540378444]
[-0.366025403784439 -0.707106781186547],
[-0.707106781186547
                      2.36602540378444]
[-0.633974596215561 0.707106781186547]
1
```

The boundaries of the fundamental domain: [1, 1, 0, 0][2, 0, 0, 0][3, 1, 0, 0][4, 1, 0, 0] [5, 0, 0, 1][6, 1, 1, 0]



Figure 2: A fundamental domain for a subgroup of $\overline{\Delta}(2,4,6)$

Bibliography

- [1] CARANICA, C. C. Algorithms related to subgroups of the modular group. PhD thesis, Lousiana State University, 2009.
- [2] CLARK, P. L., AND VOIGHT, J. Algebraic curves uniformized by congruence subgroups of triangle groups. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 371, 1 (2019), 33–82.
- [3] CUMMINS, C. J., AND PAULI, S. Congruence subgroup of PSL(2, Z) of genus less than or equal to 24. *Experimental Mathematics* 12, 2 (2003), 243–255.
- [4] DEINES, A., FUSELIER, J. G., LONG, L., SWISHER, H., AND TU, F.-T. Generalized legendre curves and quaternionic multiplication. *Journal of Number Theory* 161 (2016), 175–203. Special Issue on Applications of Automorphic Forms in Number Theory and Combinatorics.
- [5] DENNIN, J. B. The genus of subfields of k(n). Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 51, 2 (1975), 282–288.
- [6] DIAMOND, F., AND SHURMAN, J. A First Course in Modular Forms. Springer, New York, NY, 2005.
- [7] ELKIES, N. D. Shimura curves for level-3 subgroups of the (2,3,7) triangle group, and some other examples. In *Algorithmic Number Theory* (Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006), F. Hess, S. Pauli, and M. Pohst, Eds., Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 302–316.
- [8] FUSELIER, J., LONG, L., RAMAKRISHNA, R., SWISHER, H., AND TU, F.-T. Hypergeometric functions over finite fields, 2019.
- [9] HSU, T. Identifying congruence subgroups of the modular group. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 124, 5 (1996), 1351–1359.
- [10] JONES, G. A. Triangular Maps and Non-Congruence Subgroups of the Modular Group. Bulletin of the London Mathematical Society 11, 2 (07 1979), 117–123.
- [11] KATOK, S. Fuchsian groups, geodesic flows on surfaces of constant negative curvature and symbolic coding of geodesics.
- [12] KULKARNI, R. S. An arithmetic-geometric method in the study of the subgroups of the modular group. *American Journal of Mathematics 113*, 6 (1991), 1053–1133.
- [13] KURTH, C. Modular forms and modular symbols for noncongruence groups. PhD thesis, Iowa State University, 2009.

- [14] LANG, C. L., AND LANG, M. L. Arithmetic and geometry of the hecke groups, 2015.
- [15] LANG, M.-L., LIM, C.-H., AND TAN, S.-P. An algorithm for determining if a subgroup of the modular group is congruence. *Journal of the London Mathematical Soci*ety 51 (1995), 491–502.
- [16] MAGMA. Arithmetic fuchsian groups and shimura curves. https://magma.maths. usyd.edu.au/magma/handbook/arithmetic_fuchsian_groups_and_shimura_ curves.
- [17] MAGNUS, W. Noneuclidean tesselations and their groups. vol. 61 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Elsevier, 1974.
- [18] MARSHALL HALL, J. *The Theory of Groups*. The Macmillan Company, New York, 1963.
- [19] MASKIT, B. On poincaré's theorem for fundamental polygons. Advances in Mathematics 7, 3 (1971), 219–230.
- [20] MILLINGTON, M. H. Subgroups of the classical modular group. Journal of London Mathematical Society s2-1, 1 (1969), 351–357.
- [21] MILNE, J. S. Shimura varieties and moduli, 2011.
- [22] PETERSSON, H. über die eindeutige bestimmung und die erweiterungsfähigkeit von gewissen grenzkreisgruppen. Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg 12, 1 (1937), 180–199.
- [23] PHAM, B. Implementations of algorithms. https://sites.google.com/view/ baopham/research.
- [24] SAGEMATH. Farey symbol for arithmetic subgroups of PSL₂(Z). https://doc. sagemath.org/html/en/reference/arithgroup/sage/modular/arithgroup/farey_ symbol.html.
- [25] SEBBAR, A. Torsion-free genus zero congruence subgroups of PSL₂(ℝ). Duke Mathematical Journal 110, 2 (2001), 377–395.
- [26] SHIMURA, G. Construction of class fields and zeta functions of algebraic curves. Annals of Mathematics 85, 1 (1967), 58–159.
- [27] SIJSLING, J., AND VOIGHT, J. On computing belyi maps. Publications Mathématiques de Besançon, 1 (Apr 2015), 73–131.
- [28] TAKEUCHI, K. Arithmetic triangle groups. Journal of the Mathematical Society of

Japan 29, 2 (1977), 91–106.

- [29] TU, F.-T., AND YANG, Y. Algebraic transformations of hypergeometric functions and automorphic forms on shimura curves, 2011.
- [30] VIDAL, S. Sur la classification et le denombrement des sous-groupes du groupe modulaire et de leurs classes de conjugaison. *arXiv: Combinatorics* (2007).
- [31] VOIGHT, J. Computing fundamental domains for fuchsian groups. Journal de Théorie des Nombres de Bordeaux 21 (03 2008).
- [32] VOIGHT, J. Quaternion Algebras. https://math.dartmouth.edu/ jvoight/quat-book.pdf (2018).
- [33] YANG, Y. Computing modular equations for shimura curves, 2012.

Vita

Bao Pham was born in Vietnam in 1993. He emigrated to the United States in 2001 and settled in Baton Rouge in 2005. He graduated from Baton Rouge Magnet High School and received his Bachelor in mathematics from Louisiana State University in 2015. He continued his graduate studies at Louisiana State University and earned a Master in 2017. He is currently a Ph.D. candidate in mathematics, which will be awarded in August 2021.